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2016 financial highlights
For Westminster Savings, 2016 was a successful year where we made significant and very important investments  
for the credit union, while achieving solid performance and healthy asset growth. 
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General business 
overview
Westminster Savings Credit Union (Westminster 
Savings or the credit union) is a full-service financial 
institution, in business to enrich the lives of our customers. 
We provide retail banking services and related loans  
and mortgages to more than 55,000 members and  
hold $3.6 billion in assets under management. The 
credit union also offers a full suite of commercial 
lending and other services to real estate developers, 
small- and medium-sized enterprises and micro-
businesses. Additionally, we offer new and used 
passenger vehicle leasing through our subsidiary, 
WS Leasing Ltd. and its network of independent 
dealers and brokers in Western Canada, Ontario 
and the Maritimes. Through our subsidiary, Mercado 
Capital Corporation, we provide small- and mid-
ticket equipment leasing services throughout 
Western Canada, Ontario and the Maritimes.

We measure our success using a balance of financial 
and non-financial measures. Financially, success 
is measured using conventional banking industry 
indicators such as asset growth, financial returns 
and measures of capital, liquidity and operating 
efficiency. The credit union uses a variety of measures 
to assess our acceptance in the markets we serve, 
and to assess our performance in areas that are 
important to our members. Employee engagement 
and performance, which is measured semi-annually, is 
another important aspect of how we evaluate success. 
Westminster Savings strives to continuously improve 
its performance against these measures over time.

The most significant source of revenue for 
Westminster Savings is net interest income from 
financial intermediation. This represents the yield 

earned from loans, leases and investments, offset by 
deposit and other funding costs. The credit union 
also earns fee and commission income from these 
activities, or from non-intermediation products 
and services such as payment services or sales 
commissions. Ancillary to this business, the credit 
union may realize gains or losses on the sale of financial 
instruments such as investments. It is also typical to 
record impairment losses, to reflect the expectation 
that some loans or leases will suffer credit losses.

To support these business activities, the credit union’s 
operating expenses includes staff compensation, 
as well as premises, systems, marketing and other 
administration costs. The credit union is also 
subject to federal and provincial income taxes.

We also measure comprehensive income which 
takes a broader view of income measurement 
by including unrealized gains or losses of the 
credit union, including changes in certain asset 
values, and changes to the estimated value of 
employee pension plan assets and obligations.

Through the Westminster Savings Foundation, 
we support community organizations that work to 
improve the quality of life within our general trade 
areas. In addition to our foundation contributions, the 
credit union makes direct community investments.

Building solid customer relationships is the hallmark 
of our customer-focused business strategy. Our 
employees are also a key part of this strategy. 
The 408 employees at Westminster Savings and 
its subsidiary companies all share a commitment 
to delivering high-quality personal service.
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We provide our members with: 

A growing network of 13 
branches in their local 
communities, with two 
more set to open in 2017

Online banking, 
accessible through 
computer, tablet and 
mobile devices

Telephone banking 
service through our 
Member Service Centre

Access to a team of mobile 
specialists, including small 
business relationship managers 
and mobile mortgage specialists

Access to more than 
4,000  surcharge-free 
ATMs across Canada
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Lines of business

Westminster Savings provides a full range of retail and commercial banking, wealth management and leasing solutions 
to meet our customers’ evolving needs. Known for its customer and community focus, people oriented culture and 
sound financial and operating practices, the credit union aims to be the financial partner of choice for busy families 
and small businesses in Metro Vancouver and the Fraser Valley, so they can achieve their most important goals. 

Consumer Operations
Through our network of 13 branches, our Member Service Centre (located in New Westminster) and more than  
200 employees, Consumer Operations provides a wide range of banking and lending solutions. Our service locations 
are also an incredibly important portal to allow customers to explore their other financial needs relative to wealth 
management, small business, commercial lending and leasing solutions.

Our team of professionals prides itself on listening to the intricate needs of our members and providing them the 
right mix of financial advice and solutions they need for both today and tomorrow. Coupled with online and mobile 
banking channels, we make banking with Westminster Savings easier and more convenient than it’s ever been. For us, 
enriching the lives of our customers isn’t just our vision, it’s our everyday objective. 
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550+ 
commercial leases that added 
revenue-generating equipment to 
Canada’s economy were funded 
through Mercado Capital Corporation

Leasing
Our leasing division offers Westminster Savings the opportunity to have 
a national presence in consumer and commercial vehicle, equipment and 
fleet leases across Canada through our two subsidiaries, WS Leasing Ltd. 
and Mercado Capital Corporation. 

WS Leasing distinguishes itself in the automotive marketplace 
with fast, efficient and competitive lease structures for new and 
used vehicles for both individual and business clients. While Metro 
Vancouver and the Fraser Valley represent the largest portion of 
our vehicle leasing portfolio, we continued to see growth in our 
markets east of British Columbia in 2016. The competition from other 
financing options for vehicle purchasing is high and continues to put 
pressure on our leasing operations. 

Mercado Capital Corporation is a small- to mid-ticket equipment 
financing company that serves businesses across Canada. While the 
largest portion of its portfolio is in Alberta, we experienced significant 
growth in the Ontario, British Columbia and remaining Prairie markets 
during 2016, offsetting the economic conditions in Alberta in 2016. The 
primary markets we focus on in our equipment leasing business are the 
transportation and construction sectors.

at the end of 2016

Lease portfolio 
balance of 
more than

1,200+ 
customers acquired 
a vehicle in 2016, 
thanks to financing 
from WS Leasing Ltd.

Wealth Management
We have a dedicated team of wealth 
management professionals that provides 
expert advice to help our customers 
successfully plan for their future. In 2016, 
we introduced new products and services 
that will provide even more investment and 
insurance opportunities and solutions to assist 
customers with financial planning, estate 
planning, tax planning, income protection 
and investment management. By learning 
about and regularly reviewing our customers’ 
most important goals, we are able to provide 
them with tailored and practical financial 
plans for the future.  

Commercial Banking
Commercial Banking provides financial 
services to customers who own and operate 
small- and medium-sized businesses in our 
trade areas. We serve three distinct groups 
of business customers: real estate developers, 
mid-sized companies and small businesses. 
We offer specialized expertise and superb 
service and products, including project 
financing, mortgages, commercial loans, 
lines of credit, deposits, payments and cash 
management services.

990+ 
members served 
by our Commercial 
Banking branch

167 
new loans were financed 
in 2016, totalling more 
than $370 million

We financed more than 103 new  
construction developments in 2016

$689  
million
wealth assets 
managed in 2016

7,400+
customers helped with 
their financial planning, 
estate planning and income 
replacement needs

$287
million
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Corporate
Our corporate division encompasses various departments, including Finance, Human Resources, Information 
Technology, Marketing, Treasury and other administration. The corporate division outsources non-core functions  
that support the credit union’s banking system operation, software development and investment management to  
best-in-class service providers to achieve efficiency gains. 

Market environment
The credit union operates within a broad and very 
competitive financial services market, which includes 
Canada’s chartered banks, other credit unions, 
virtual, specialty and niche non-regulated financial 
services providers, and new emerging competitors. 
Approximately one in three British Columbians are 
members of a credit union.1

As financial products and services become increasingly 
automated, commoditized and available electronically, 
consumers are more likely to find and use multiple 
financial institutions in pursuit of the best value. 
Increasingly, full-service financial institutions like 
Westminster Savings are competing with virtual, 
specialty and niche financial services providers. These 
trends toward lower-cost financial services providers, 
increased consumer choice and market fragmentation 
are expected to continue in the years ahead. 

Our wealth management division offers a full suite of 
investment and insurance products, and competes in a 
very active market with other financial institutions and 
independent firms. Investment and insurance products 
are complex and highly regulated financial products, 
with consumer choice being influenced by advisor 
relationships, expectation of investment returns and fees. 

Our vehicle leasing operation competes against other 
financial institutions, finance companies and vehicle 
manufacturers’ captive finance companies. Consumer 
leasing volumes are influenced by consumer confidence 
and other aspects of the economic environment. The 
market for vehicle financing is more favourable for longer-
term purchase financing which competes with leasing.

1     Source: Central 1 Credit Union

Similarly, our equipment leasing subsidiary competes 
with other financing companies and manufacturers that 
are active in equipment leasing. Equipment financing 
volumes are also influenced by the economy and the 
general level of business investment activity, particularly 
in the resource, infrastructure and transportation sectors.
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Financial metrics
2016 2015 %

Assets under management $3.59 B $3.43 B 4.8%

Net income $7.48 M $9.27 M 19.3%

Total assets $2.81 B $2.72 B 3.4%

Total loans $2.03 B $1.84 B 10.5%

Total leases $287 M $278 M 3.4%

Total deposits $2.39 B $2.32 B 3.3%

Industry metrics
2016 2015 %

Liquidity ratio 16.6% 22.9% 27.3%

Capital ratio 15.0% 16.5% 9.0%

Return on average assets 0.27% 0.36% 23.4%

Return on equity 4.1% 5.3% 22.7%

Operating efficiency 82.4% 82.5% 0.1%

2016 operating results
For Westminster Savings, 2016 was a successful year where we made significant and very important investments for 
the credit union, while achieving solid performance and healthy asset growth. 

Net income
Net income is $7.5 million, down from $9.3 million in 
2015. Last year was a transformational year for the credit 
union, where we made significant and very important 
investments for the future of the credit union. We 
continued to expand and invest in our distribution 
networks with the opening of one branch in January 
2017 and two more scheduled before the end of the 
same year. Not only do our branches play a vital role 
in meeting customers’ transactional needs, serving 
as advisory centres and delivering an exceptional 

experience, they act as a portal providing customers 
with valuable access to our wealth management, small 
business, and commercial lending and leasing solutions.

In 2016, we also introduced new product offerings in 
our vehicle lease portfolio and our wealth division, and 
invested heavily in our people through expanded training 
programs and technology to support the development of 
a high-performing team culture focused on meeting our 
customers’ varied and evolving financial needs. 
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Net interest income

The largest component of the credit union’s income is 
net interest income. 

Net interest income increased to $62.7 million up from 
$59.5 million in 2015. The overall increase in net interest 
income of $3.2 million was largely due to a decrease in 
interest expense of $4.0 million that was partially offset 
by an $0.8 million decrease in interest income.

Despite an overall increase in our consumer mortgage 
loans balance, we have seen a shift in the consumer 
lending portfolio to lower yielding variable rate products. 
There has been a continued tightening in yields across 
all lines of business as interest rates remained low and 
competitive pressures saw consumer and commercial 
lending and leasing rates change slightly throughout 
the year. The growth in our equipment leasing portfolio, 
which has higher yield products, has contributed to an 
overall higher yield in our leasing portfolio.

Interest expense declined by 11.7% from 2015, primarily 
due to a change in product mix to lower yield deposit 
products, resulting in lower interest rates paid on 
members’ deposits. This was partially offset by an 
increase in members’ deposit balances. Contributing 
to the decline in cost of funds was a decrease in the 
securitization of assets, which resulted in a lower 
associated interest expense. The credit union also saw 

a large number of term deposits maturing in 2016 and 
then transferring into lower yielding demand accounts.

Impairment losses on loans,  
leases receivable, investments  
and other assets
In assessing its loans and leases receivable portfolios 
for evidence of impairment, Westminster Savings 
considered various factors: bankruptcy, default, payment 
delinquency and decline in the value of mortgage 
security or other collateral and additional economic 
considerations. Individual loans or leases may be 
found to be impaired due to specific factors. For loans 
assessed as impaired, we continue to hold substantial 
security that serves to protect the credit union against 
loss. In addition, we evaluate our overall portfolios of 
mortgages, loans, vehicle leases and equipment leases 
to quantify losses that might arise from broader factors. 
Westminster Savings is proactive in our management 
of delinquency and other credit concerns to ensure that 
credit losses are kept as low as possible.

The credit union recorded impairment losses on loans 
and leases of $1.5 million in 2016, $0.8 million higher 
than the previous year. The credit union also incurred 
higher impairment on other assets of $2.8 million in 
2016 compared to $0.7 million in 2015. The increase 
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in impairment losses was largely due to a decline in 
economic conditions in Alberta within the oil and gas 
sector coupled with the Fort McMurray wildfire. 

In determining the collective loss provision management 
considers macroeconomic and industry-specific trends. 
Further details can be found by reading Credit risk in 
the Key business risks section on page 16. During the 
year, the credit union incurred higher delinquencies and 
direct writeoffs contributing to an overall increase in the 
collective loss provision.

Net fee and commission income
Net fee and commission income was $7.5 million, a 
decrease of 16.5% or $1.5 million compared to 2015. 

Fee and commission income decreased by $1.0 million 
to $11.1 million in 2016 compared to $12.1 million in 
2015. This was predominately driven by decreases 
in wealth management revenues of $0.4 million 
and a reduction in insurance, mortgage and Visa® 
commissions of $0.4 million.

Wealth management revenues declined $0.4 million 
to $4.4 million compared to $4.8 million in 2015. This 
was driven by increased revenues related to new wealth 
management product offerings, offset by a change 
in product mix from deferred service-charge based 
products with upfront higher fees to products with a 
trailing revenue stream. In addition, the credit union has 
converted $111.1 million of assets from the Mutual Fund 
Dealers Association platform to the Investment Industry 
Regulatory Organization of Canada, which offers an 
expanded product offering to our customers. The new 
product offerings align the credit union with competitors 
and reflect changes in regulatory requirements. The 
change in strategy favours the credit union in the long 
term as it will increase its competitiveness and allow for 
sustained asset and revenue growth over time.

Insurance, mortgage and Visa commissions declined  
by $0.4 million in 2016 to $1.5 million compared to  
$1.9 million in 2015. This was primarily due to a decline in 
the creditor insurance commissions of $0.4 million as a 
result of our insurance claim experience during the year. 

The credit union experienced a decline in foreign 
exchange income of $0.3 million to $0.9 million in 2016. 
The increased strength of the United States dollar 
against the Canadian dollar has resulted in a decrease of 
demand for foreign exchange services and a decline in 
foreign exchange gains compared to the $1.2 million the 
credit union recorded in 2015.

Fee and commission expense increased in 2016 by 
$0.5 million to $3.6 million compared to the previous 
year of $3.1 million. Member service expenses grew 
by 24.4% or $0.3 million from 2015 to 2016. This was 
driven largely by an increased volume of ATM and POS 
transactions and associated fees as a result of increased 
usage subsequent to the introduction of new Interac® 
Flash cards to all members in 2016.

Net gains on financial investments
Certain investment assets held by the credit union are 
measured at fair value on the consolidated statement 
of financial position. Fair value changes are recorded 
as unrealized fair value gains and losses, and included 
in comprehensive income during the period that the 
investments are held on the balance sheet. The disposal 
of these assets results in realized gains or losses that 
are recorded in net gains on financial instruments in the 
consolidated statement of income. In 2016, we recorded 
both realized and unrealized gains from these assets. 
Net gains on financial instruments were $1.4 million for 
2016, which was the result of realized gains on available-
for-sale financial assets of $2.1 million partially offset by 
impairment-related losses of $0.9 million and gains in fair 
value recognized of $0.2 million. This is $0.3 million lower 
than we recorded in 2015.
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Occupancy and 
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Gains and losses from sale of assets
During the year, Westminster Savings disposed of various assets and realized gains on sale of assets  
of $1.8 million. 

Overall operating expenses increased 4.0% to $59.0 million 
in 2016. Throughout the year, we invested in our people and 
infrastructure to position the credit union for future growth 
and success.

Salary and employee benefits expense increased 
by 4.8% in 2016 primarily due to an increase in 
compensation expense of 3.7%. Throughout the year, 
the credit union incurred a number of staff vacancies, 
resulting in a decline in average full-time equivalents 
for the year. The savings in compensation expense 
related to these vacancies was offset by increases in 
restructuring costs, training, variable incentive and 
annual merit increases. 

We invested in new training programs in line with our 
strategy to develop high-performing teams, which 
resulted in an increase in staff training of $0.5 million 
in 2016.

Occupancy and equipment expense increased by 4.7% 
to $8.4 million in 2016. This was predominately due to 

the relocation of our administrative teams to our new 
Corporate Centre in Surrey and an investment in new 
technology and infrastructure. The new, more integrated 
environment has resulted in an increase in employee 
collaboration and productivity.

General and administrative expense increased by 1.7% 
from 2015. The major component of this was related to 
the introduction of new Interac Flash cards ($0.5 million) 
to our members and higher regulatory expenses of  
$0.3 million. These were offset by a reduction of  
$0.6 million in marketing costs. The credit union elected 
to shift marketing spend from traditional advertising 
campaigns to campaigns that supported a cross-divisional 
approach to acquiring new customers, while planning for 
the launch of our three new branches in 2017. 

We continue to focus on managing costs to better align 
with declining margins, ensuring our operations are as 
efficient and effective as possible while still making the 
necessary investments to grow the business.

$ 
m

ill
io

ns

Westminster Savings Management Discussion and Analysis 2016  |  11



Westminster Savings Foundation
Westminster Savings Foundation was founded 
in 1992 as a charitable society to support worthy 
organizations within the general trade area of the credit 
union. Contributions to the foundation are made at 
the discretion of the Westminster Savings Board of 
Directors. The foundation has a community endowment 
fund of $9.0 million and disbursed grants of more than 
$0.3 million in 2016 to support active living and arts in 
the communities we serve.

The credit union also contributed $0.2 million ($0.3 million 
in 2015) directly to community activities and initiatives, 
such as sponsorship of the Vancouver Symphony 
Orchestra’s 2016/2017 Surrey Nights series and various 
community festivals, including New Westminster’s 
Uptown Live festival, White Rock’s Sea Festival, Burnaby’s 
Hats Off Day and Langley’s Arts Alive Festival. 

In addition, we made a three-year commitment totalling 
$675,000 to KidSport™ BC, Arts Umbrella™ and Special 
Olympics BC ($75,000 to each organization per year 
from 2017 to 2019).

Income taxes
Lower taxable income levels in 2016, coupled with 
changes in timing differences for purposes of deferred  
tax have resulted in a decline in the overall level of  
income taxes. The effective tax rate has increased to 
23.7% (21.2% in 2015) primarily attributable to the phase-
out of the credit union deduction.

The credit union is subject to current tax and deferred 
tax expense. In October 2013, the federal government 
passed legislation to phase out the 17.0% credit union 
preferred rate deduction over a five-year period, 
commencing in 2014. Accordingly, this legislative change 
is reflected in both current and deferred taxes in 2016.

On February 18, 2014, the provincial government 
announced in its 2014 budget that it would begin 
phasing out the provincial credit union deduction over 
five years beginning in 2016. This legislative change is 
reflected in both current and deferred taxes in 2016. 

In the budget announced in February 2017, the provincial 
government announced it would pause the phase-out 
proposal outlined above until a review was completed 
of the Financial Institutions Act and the Credit Union 
Incorporation Act.
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Balance sheet
Total assets

• Total assets grew by $92.5 million to $2.8 billion in 2016 compared to $2.7 billion in 2015.

• Loans increased by $193.1 million or 10.5%. Loan growth was largely driven by increases in the consumer 
asset portfolio. The credit union recorded an increase of $149.0 million or 11.0% in consumer loans and 
mortgages in 2016. This change was a reflection on the demand for retail loan and mortgage products in a 
rising British Columbia real estate market.

• Leases receivable increased $9.4 million or 3.4% from 2015 to 2016. The credit union saw increases in  
the equipment leasing portfolio of $29.5 million and deferred leasing fees net of impairment losses of  
$0.6 million, which was largely offset by a reduction in the vehicle lease portfolio of $20.7 million.

• Cash, investments and other assets decreased by $109.0 million.
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billion in 2016

$2.4
Members’ 
deposits

3.3%

This asset growth was funded by an increase of $76.1 million in deposit growth to $2.4 billion. An increase of $130.7 
million in demand, term and other deposits in 2016 was partially offset by a reduction in wholesale deposits of $54.6 
million during 2016. 

The credit union routinely securitizes loans and leases to raise additional funding at competitive rates, with the following 
results:

• Securitization debt obligations increased by $1.5 million in the year; and

• Borrowing levels remained zero in 2016. This was a result of the continued growth in deposit balances during 2016.

The non-financial asset and liability categories are a much smaller component of our consolidated statement of 
financial position when compared with our customer accounts. These balances reflect the assets and liabilities used in 
our operations, along with certain income tax and pension-related balances. The balances in these asset and liability 
accounts saw some modest changes from the prior year, in keeping with our ongoing business activity. Pension and 
income tax-related asset and liability balances have fluctuated, largely due to changes in discount and tax rates. The 
retirement benefit obligation and income tax payable were recorded as $4.0 million and $15.8 million compared to $1.6 
million and $13.1 million in 2015.

Liabilities and members’ equity
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Members’ equity
Members’ equity is comprised of retained earnings, 
including current year income, net of changes in 
comprehensive income, and grew to $180.9 million from 
$173.9 million as at the end of 2016. The increase in 
retained earnings represents net income for the year of 
$7.5 million, net of other comprehensive losses for the 
year of $0.5 million.

Comprehensive income increased $1.8 million in the  
year to $7.0 million compared to $5.2 million in 2015.  
This represents net income of $7.5 million combined with 
net actuarial losses of $1.2 million on the credit union’s 
defined benefit plans and favourable fluctuations in the 
fair market value of our managed investment portfolio of 
$0.7 million. These fluctuations are recorded annually to 
reflect changes in market conditions.

Assets under administration 

At December 31, 2016, off balance sheet assets under 
administration were $784.9 million, up $73.7 million or 
10.4% from $711.2 million in 2015.

The largest component of off balance sheet assets 
under administration is customer investment products, 
primarily mutual fund investments. At December 31, 
2016, the total value of customers’ investment products 
under administration was $689.1 million, ($622.1 million 
in 2015). These increases reflected new customer 
investments and new product offerings along with 
market value increases in the capital markets.

For customers with self-directed retirement accounts, 
the credit union acts as administrator for a fee. Self-
directed RRSP funds under administration were $51.9 
million, up from $46.5 million in 2015.

Periodically, other financial institutions are invited to 
participate in the large-dollar loans we originate. These 
syndicated loans are administered for a fee, and totalled 
$43.9 million, up from $42.6 million in 2015.

56%
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22%
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Loans
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and other
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sheet assets
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$0.3 billion

$0.5 billion
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Managing business risks
Key business risks
Westminster Savings’ operations necessitate a variety 
of risks that may affect future results. Our objective is 
to limit the credit union from unacceptable business 
losses or earnings volatility, and to ensure that the risks 
we take are prudent and in proportion to the expected 
business benefits.

Westminster Savings manages risk through a 
combination of strong corporate governance and 
enterprise risk management (ERM) programs. These 
programs ensure that prudent, formal policies are in 
place, with appropriate oversight of our ongoing risk 
management activities throughout the credit union.

The credit union employs ERM to identify, assess and 
proactively manage risks in the face of uncertainty. The 
process supports the creation of enterprise value and the 
mitigation of risks. The ERM process is embedded in all 
major areas of the business.

The credit union maintains a business continuity 
strategy, leveraging disaster recovery and business 
continuity plans. These plans are tested periodically and 
designed to cost-effectively provide for the continuity 
of key credit union functions should they be impacted 
by a disruptive event. The credit union also carries 
appropriate corporate insurance.

The final protection against adverse impacts is the credit 
union’s capital. This is an important reason as to why 
Westminster Savings maintains levels of capital well in 
excess of regulatory minimums.

The key risks faced by the credit union include:

• Credit risk
• Financial market risk
• Competitive market risk
• Compliance and regulatory risk
• Liquidity risk
• Operational risk

Other risks that may affect future results include 
changes in government policy, ongoing matters 
affecting the credit union system, fluctuations in 
consumer and commercial borrowing patterns, as well as 
personal savings and spending patterns, and changes in 
technology and its use by consumers and businesses.

The credit union monitors the sensitivity of its 
earnings to these external risk exposures, providing 
the information required to ensure that possible 
unfavourable outcomes from risk events do not exceed 
the credit union’s capacity. 
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Enterprise risk management framework

Credit risk
• Assess credit risk exposure
• Monitor collateral
• Lending policies approved by 

the Board of Directors 
• Impose limits to avoid 

concentration risk
• Impairment provisions
• Extensive management and 

board reporting 

Financial market risk
• Investment policy approved  

by the Board of Directors
• Set investment authorities, 

quality, diversification and limits
• Monitor and stress test the 

impact from interest rate risk
• Limited foreign 

currency-denominated 
assets and liabilities

Operational risk
• Comprehensive system of 

internal controls
• Continuous monitoring and evaluation 

through our ERM program
• Selection and training of highly  

qualified staff
• Comprehensive insurance portfolio
• Contingency plans

Liquidity risk
• Balance sheet management  

and monitoring
• Diversification of 

funding sources
• Regular performance  

of stress tests

Compliance and 
regulatory risk

• Monitor new and updated regulatory 
frameworks

• Regular review and update of 
policies and operational procedures 
to comply with legislative and 
regulatory requirements

Competitive  
market risk

• Business strategies 
designed to meet 
competitive pressures

• Monitor competitive 
factors
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Risk management
Corporate governance
Westminster Savings strives to earn and retain the trust of our customers and other stakeholders through our 
commitment to sound corporate governance. The credit union’s corporate governance practices are continually 
enhanced to meet high standards and industry best practice, and are reviewed at least annually.

Board and management committees review lending, investment, risk management, capital, funding, liquidity and 
other key policies annually. These policies cover limits, exposure, strategies, monitoring and reporting. Changes to 
these policies are filed with the B.C. Superintendent of Financial Institutions Commission (FICOM) as required.

Directors monitor risk, principally through five committees composed solely of independent directors:

Board of Directors

Audit and 
Risk Committee

• Oversight over financial reporting, internal 
and external audit, and ERM processes

• Reviews and approves financial statements 
and annual regulatory filings

• Oversight over the adequacy and 
effectiveness of internal control procedures

• Assesses the qualifications and 
independence of the external auditors and 
reviews the audit plan

• Monitors the management of top 
organizational risks as outlined in the ERM 
framework, assesses mitigation strategies, 
approves the risk matrix and develops the 
risk appetite for the credit union

• Monitors compliance with laws 
and regulations

• Liaises with regulators

Investment and 
Loan Committee

• Monitors and reviews lending and 
investments, and compliance with 
the policies

• Reviews the Investment and Lending  
Policy and related procedures annually, 
and recommends changes

• Ensures there are appropriate procedures 
in place to implement the Investment and 
Lending Policy 

• Monitors risk exposure, portfolio 
composition, delinquency, compliance  
and asset realization

Governance and 
Conduct Review 

Committee

• Establishes and maintains effective 
guidelines in applying governance principles

• Establishes procedures to provide 
disclosure to members; and designed to 
prevent or resolve conflicts of interest

• Reviews and approves transactions 
involving related parties

• Reviews and approves the Governance 
Report to members annually

• Reviews board compensation at least every 
three years

• Reviews the credit union’s Rules at least 
every five years 

• Enhances the effectiveness of the board by 
reviewing and approving director education 
and development, and overseeing the 
annual board and director evaluation process
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The Board of Directors produces an annual governance report for members, outlining information about the 
governance activities and practices of the credit union.

Human Resources 
Committee

• Ensures the compensation philosophy, policies 
and programs support the business strategies 
of the credit union and its subsidiaries

• Oversees the recruitment, selection, 
development, performance and 
compensation of the Chief Executive Officer

• Oversees the management and 
administration of the Westminster Savings 
Employee Pension Plan

Nominations 
Committee

• Conducts the nomination and election 
of directors

• Reviews the competencies and skills of the 
board annually

• Reviews and approves policies and 
procedures regarding the nomination and 
election of directors

Enterprise risk management
Enterprise risk management at Westminster Savings 
is designed to ensure sound and prudent operations, 
stable earnings and the ongoing viability of the credit 
union. This also helps to influence the development 
and implementation of appropriate business strategies. 
Our risk management processes involve the Board of 
Directors and all levels of management, along with an 
independent internal audit function and a compliance 
oversight function.

The ERM process is designed to identify risks that may 
affect the credit union, to analyze and understand the 
potential impacts these risks may have and to manage 
these risks within our agreed risk appetite. Through this 
process, we establish reasonable assurance of achieving 
our objectives despite uncertainties in the environment 
in which we operate.

Westminster Savings’ ERM Committee is composed of 
executive leadership and other business line leaders, and 
reports quarterly to the Audit and Risk Committee on 
the ERM process and on the assessment of monitored 

risks. In addition to reviewing these reports, the Board of 
Directors performs a formal annual review of the ERM 
program and its results.

Two additional management committees have  
direct responsibility for specific areas of enterprise  
risk management:

• The Management Credit Committee authorizes 
material and related-party loans within the limits 
established by the Board of Directors. 

• The Asset Liability Committee is charged with 
optimizing net interest income within acceptable 
levels of risk, primarily interest rate risk. The 
committee oversees the strategies for managing 
assets, liabilities and capital, monitors asset 
allocation and assesses the overall balance sheet  
risk profile of the credit union.

Both management committees are subject to oversight 
by the Board of Directors.
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Control environment
Westminster Savings has adopted numerous procedures 
throughout the organization to protect the assets of the 
credit union and to ensure that financial, management 
and other reporting is accurate and complete. 
Maintaining an adequate control environment is an 
important responsibility for all managers. To support 
management in this regard, we have internal and external 
audit processes that are independent of management 
and a separate compliance function.

Our Business Ethics Policy provides directors, officers 
and employees of Westminster Savings and its 
subsidiaries with a framework for maintaining high 
standards of ethical conduct with customers and other 
stakeholders, and within the communities we serve.

Part of this responsibility involves protecting the privacy 
of our customers’ and stakeholders’ personal information. 
Under our Personal Information Protection Policy, the 
credit union actively monitors and fully complies with all 
personal information and privacy legislation.

Internal audit
The credit union maintains an independent internal  
audit department, accountable under a formal charter  
to the Audit and Risk Committee of the Board of 
Directors. This charter mandates a corporate-wide  
audit responsibility that includes the credit union’s 
subsidiaries and provides for flexible access to external 
specialists if required.

To ensure that independence and objectivity is 
maintained, the internal audit department acts in 
an advisory and assurance role only, with no direct 
management authority. Internal audit has unrestricted 
discretion in discharging its responsibilities.

External audit
Westminster Savings engages a recognized international 
audit firm to carry out the annual external audit of the 
credit union’s financial statements. These external audit 
arrangements are regularly reviewed by the Audit and 
Risk Committee.
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Capital management

As an important part of our overall risk strategy, we 
manage our capital position to ensure that sufficient 
and appropriate capital is available to protect against 
unexpected events and support ongoing growth. A 
strong capital position offers protection in the face of 
risk and preserves the security of customer deposits. 
Increased capital allows the credit union to pursue new 
initiatives and expand our services to customers. We also 
determine the amount of capital required to support our 
operating divisions and ensure that it is used in the most 
efficient and effective manner. We regularly monitor and 
complete quarterly portfolio stress testing to ensure we 
can support our operating divisions.

As a B.C. credit union, Westminster Savings must 
meet the capital requirements outlined in the Financial 
Institutions Act (FIA) of British Columbia and the 
related capital requirements regulation. This regulation 
specifies the minimum capital a credit union must 
maintain and how this capital is defined and measured. 
The calculation of the statutory capital requirement is 
based on FICOM’s assessment of the relative risk of the 
assets held by a credit union, thus establishing that more 
capital is to be held against riskier assets.

FICOM uses three capital indicators in the assessment 
of credit union capital adequacy:

1.  The FIA regulations require a credit union to have a 
capital ratio of at least 8.0% to operate without any 
statutory restrictions. A credit union operating below this 
limit will be subject to immediate statutory restrictions 
and may be considered non-viable by FICOM. 

2.  FICOM’s supervisory target of 10.0% sits above  
the regulatory threshold and provides FICOM  
with sufficient time to address any threats to the 
solvency of the credit union before it falls below  
the regulatory requirement. 

3.  Credit unions are expected to establish their own 
internal capital target ratio, which should be set above 
the supervisory target. This internal target is used as 
a base for corrective internal action before capital 
erodes below the supervisory target.

Westminster Savings’ capital policy requires an annual 
internal capital adequacy target to be established and 
maintained. For 2016, our internal capital adequacy 
target range was 13 to 14%. We forecast the amount and 
composition of our balance sheet and expected levels of 
risk-adjusted assets, and manage accordingly to remain 
well-capitalized.

The main source of Westminster Savings’ capital is the 
retention of earnings. The credit union’s capital base 
also includes member shares and Westminster Savings’ 
proportionate share of system capital. System capital refers 
to the retained earnings of the centralized credit union 
organizations (Credit Union Deposit Insurance Corporation, 
Central 1 Credit Union and Stabilization Central Credit 
Union), which are owned by B.C. credit unions.

• As at December 31, 2016, Westminster Savings’ 
total capital base was $204.2 million compared with 
$196.5 million in 2015. 

• Westminster Savings’ capital adequacy ratio, 
including system capital, was 15.0% at December 31, 
2016 compared with 16.5% in 2015. This exceeded 
both regulatory and Westminster Savings’ policy 
requirements.

Capital and balance sheet management
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3.9%

The credit union’s retained earnings and total capital 
have grown consistently over the years. A second key 
factor affecting the capital ratio is the composition of 
our asset portfolios and associated underlying risks. The 
decrease in cash and a change in the lease portfolio 
along with our investments in our distribution channels, 
people and technology had an adverse impact on our 
risk-weighted asset values in 2016. An increase in our 
commercial loan portfolio and equipment lease portfolio 
required a higher risk weighting, which had a negative 
impact on our capital ratio in 2016. 

Liquidity
The credit union carefully manages its liquidity to 
ensure that customers’ requirements are met at all 
times. By ensuring that sufficient, readily accessible or 
liquid assets are available, Westminster Savings is able 
to meet customer demand for withdrawals and deposit 
redemptions, fund loans, leases and business operations, 
and protect the credit union against the costs of 
providing for sudden, unforeseen cash needs.

As a B.C. credit union, Westminster Savings must meet 
the liquidity requirements outlined in the FIA and the 
related liquidity requirement regulation. This regulation 
specifies the minimum liquid assets a credit union must 
maintain, and how liquidity is determined. The legislation 
requires that liquid assets representing at least 8.0% of 
deposit and debt obligations be held by a credit union. 
This liquidity ratio is intended to ensure that liquidity is 
adequate in relation to the business being conducted.

• Westminster Savings’ liquidity ratio was 16.6% 
at December 31, 2016, compared with 22.9% at 
December 31, 2015. The combination of modest 
increases in members’ deposits, plus an increase  
in our lending volumes, resulted in the decrease  
in the liquidity ratio in 2016.

• This well exceeded both regulatory and 
Westminster Savings’ policy requirements.
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Loans and lease securitization
Westminster Savings routinely enters into transactions 
whereby the credit union or a subsidiary securitizes 
(sells) consumer mortgage loans or leases receivable 
to third party investors. This is used by the credit union 
to access cost-effective funding for additional growth 
and to manage liquidity risk, credit risk and interest 
rate risk. Securitization transactions have no impact on 
customers who have a consumer mortgage or lease 
with the credit union.

During the year, the credit union continued to 
participate in securitization programs to issue 
mortgage-backed securities included in the Canada 
Mortgage Bonds program and within an Asset-Backed 
Commercial Paper program. These conduits were 
established to reduce liquidity risk by further diversifying 
funding sources.

In 2016, Westminster Savings had securitized consumer 
mortgage loans receivables of $129.0 million ($118.8 
million in 2015) and leases receivable of $19.1 million 
($42.0 million in 2015).

Borrowing facilities
In addition to its borrowing facility with Central 1 Credit 
Union, Westminster Savings maintains credit facilities 
with other major financial institutions. The credit union 
can draw on these facilities as required to finance 
operations. Our credit lines provide borrowing capacity of 
approximately 8.8% of credit union assets (10.7% in 2015). 

The credit union had no change in borrowings from our 
credit facilities at December 31, 2016.
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2017 outlook 
Economic outlook
We expect the 2017 operating environment to be 
influenced by factors such as slowing economic 
growth, heightened competition, increased regulatory 
requirements and the impacts of major changes to 
mortgage rules introduced by the federal government in 
October 2016. We expect to see continued pressure to 
acquire new business and retain existing relationships.  

Uncertainty about the global outlook is undiminished. 
Of particular concern are the trade policy measures 
taken by the new U.S. administration. Since the election 
of President Donald Trump, yields on some U.S. 
benchmark bonds have soared. The rapid increase in 
bond yields, partly reflecting market anticipation of U.S. 
fiscal expansion, has pulled up Canadian yields. The 
longer-term impact on treasuries is less certain and 
depends on whether campaign promises on taxes and 
spending materialize. 

The U.S. economy is expected to strengthen in 2017 and 
2018, resulting in part from anticipated fiscal stimulus. 
Stronger U.S. household spending and public and 
private investments would have positive spillovers for 
Canadian exports.

In Canada, the Bank of Canada (BoC) upgraded its 
forecast for real GDP growth in 2017 to 2.1%. This is due 
to the expected improvement in the U.S. economy and 
higher energy prices. The forecast for real GDP for 2018 
is 2.1%. Housing market activity is widely expected to 
soften in 2017 and will be a drag to GDP growth.  

For 2016, the B.C. economy is expected to have 
expanded at 3.8% real GDP, outperforming all other 
provinces as it benefits from a strong housing market, 
consumer spending, population inflows and a favourable 
Canadian dollar for exports. The housing market is a key 
driver underpinning growth but after three strong years, 
a down cycle appears to be underway. 

The growth outlook for 2017 is lower than 2016’s 
and reflects the impact of recent market and policy 
developments. Real GDP in B.C. is projected to grow by 
2.3% in 2017. The real estate market is expected to slow 
down and housing will contribute less to B.C.’s economy 
next year due to changes in the federal housing policies. 

The Alberta economy is expected to have a gradual  
and uneven turnaround in 2017, more than two years 
after oil prices began their descent. With oil prices  
rising gradually, but not expected to return to pre-
recession levels, real GDP is forecast to grow at a 
moderate 2.1% in 2017. 

The federal government’s introduction of major changes 
to Canada’s mortgage rules in October 2016 is expected 
to lead to weaker housing activity in the near term and 
increased mortgage rates due to increases in lenders’ 
cost of funds. The BoC estimates that these changes will 
reduce housing’s contribution to growth during the next 
two years and leave the level of real GDP 0.3% lower 
than it otherwise would have been by the end of 2018. 
Over time, these measures are expected to mitigate 
financial stability risks.

In regard to the benchmark interest rate, the BoC is 
not expected to raise its overnight rate in 2017. In its 
announcement on January 18, 2017, it kept the overnight 
rate at 0.5%, indicating that the current stance of 
monetary policy is appropriate, given the significant 
uncertainties weighing on the outlook. The output gap 
forecast is expected to close around mid-2018.

Notwithstanding the headwinds in the expected 
operating environment and recognizing that there are 
many external uncertainties that impact the financial 
sector, Westminster Savings anticipates a strong 
performance in 2017 as corporate strategies positively 
impact corporate objectives.
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Glossary of terms 
Assets under administration are third-party investment 
assets that the credit union originates and manages 
in return for administration fees and/or commissions. 
Although third-party assets are not recorded on the 
credit union’s balance sheet, they represent expanded 
investment options for our customers, while providing the 
credit union with a reliable revenue stream. 
Balance sheet is a statement of position that reflects 
the assets, liabilities and capital of the credit union at a 
particular point in time, detailing the balance of income 
and expenditure over the preceding period.
Compensation expense includes salary, benefits, 
employee training and development costs.
Competitive market risk is the risk of customer 
attrition, increased cost or other business impacts due 
to changes in the competitive markets for financial 
services, investment products, vehicle leasing and 
equipment leasing. 
Compliance and regulatory risk is the risk of non-
compliance with legislative and regulatory requirements 
arising from inadequate policies and operational 
procedures or lack of highly qualified staff. 
Comprehensive income includes the net income of the 
credit union, along with certain unrealized gains or losses, 
which reflect the accounting requirement to value certain 
investments and pension obligations at fair value in the 
consolidated statement of financial income.
Credit risk is the risk of loss resulting from a borrower’s 
inability or unwillingness to repay a loan in conjunction 
with inadequate collateral, or from a counterparty’s 
inability to complete or fulfill financial obligations. 
Deferred tax expense reflects an amount of income 
tax expense related to the difference between the 
deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities between 
the beginning of the year and the end of the year. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are a result of temporary 
differences between accounting and tax carrying values, 
and are calculated based on estimates of the timing 
and amount of future reversals at the applicable future 
tax rates. The judgment required in assessing the future 

timing of reversals, amounts and future tax rates in respect 
of deferred taxes may result in effective tax rates that may 
not be consistent from year to year. 
Fee and commission expense includes costs related 
to our delivery of transactional account services and 
leasing services, ATM and Interac Direct Payment 
transaction processing costs, cheque clearing costs, 
investment management costs, custodial and other 
loan processing fees.  
Fee and commission income comprises various fees, 
service charges, penalties and other miscellaneous revenues 
that are earned but not part of net interest income.
Financial market risk is the risk of loss that results from 
changes in external markets, including interest rates, 
foreign exchange rates, equity and commodity prices, and 
credit spreads.
General and administrative expense includes data 
processing, marketing and other costs of administration. 
Interest rate risk represents the potential adverse 
impact that changes to market interest rates may have 
on the earnings and value of the credit union. It generally 
arises from differences between the term to maturity of 
investments, loans and leases receivable, and those of the 
credit unions’ sources of funding.
Liquidity risk refers to the risk of being unable to obtain 
funds at reasonable prices or within a reasonable time 
period to meet obligations as they come due. 
Members’ equity comprises retained earnings and other 
comprehensive income. 
Net fee and commission income includes  
fee and commission income netted with  
fee and commission expense.
Net income is the sum of net interest income, net fee 
and commission income and other income less operating 
expenses and taxes.
Net interest income is the difference between financial 
income (interest earned on investments, loans and 
leases receivable) and financial expense (interest paid on 
members’ deposits and other financing). It is the largest 
component of the credit union’s income.
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Occupancy and equipment expense includes premises 
rent, maintenance and other property-related costs. 
Operating expenses consists of compensation expense, 
occupancy and equipment expense, and other general 
and administrative expense.
Operational risk refers to the risk of loss resulting 
from the failure or inadequacy of internal systems and 
processes, or from external events that may negatively 
impact the credit union. These risks are carefully managed 
under Westminster Savings’ ERM program.
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Consolidated 
financial 
statements
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016



MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY

The consolidated financial statements of Westminster Savings Credit Union have been prepared by 
management in accordance with the requirements of the Financial Institutions Act and International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). The statements include amounts based on informed 
judgments and estimates of the expected effects of current events and transactions. 

To meet its responsibility for preparing reliable financial information, management maintains and 
relies on comprehensive internal accounting, operating and system controls. These controls are 
designed to provide reasonable assurance that the financial records are reliable for preparing 
financial statements and safeguarding the assets of the organization. 

The consolidated financial statements are approved by the Board of Directors. The Audit and Risk 
Committee, comprised of four directors of the board, has reviewed the statements with management 
and the external auditors in detail. 

KPMG LLP has been appointed by the membership as independent auditors to examine and report 
on the consolidated financial statements. They have had full and free access to the internal audit 
staff, other management staff and the Audit and Risk Committee of the board. 

      
Gavin Toy, President and CEO   Mary Falconer, Senior VP and CFO 

March 1, 2017 

March 1, 2017

Westminster Savings Management Discussion and Analysis 2016  |  28



KPMG LLP 
PO Box 10426 777 Dunsmuir Street 
Vancouver BC V7Y 1K3 
Canada 
Telephone (604) 691-3000 
Fax (604) 691-3031 

KPMG LLP is a Canadian limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent 
member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity.  
KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

To the members of Westminster Savings Credit Union 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of 
Westminster Savings Credit Union, which comprise the consolidated statement of 
financial position as at December 31, 2016, the consolidated statements of income, 
comprehensive income, changes in members’ equity and cash flows for the year 
then ended, and notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory information. 

Management’s responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these 
consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial 
statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with 
Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we 
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free 
from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts 
and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected 
depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. 
In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the 
entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as 
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our audit opinion. 
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Westminster Savings Credit Union  
Page 2 

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of Westminster Savings Credit Union as 
at December 31, 2016 and its consolidated financial performance and its 
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards. 

Chartered Professional Accountants 

March 1, 2017 
Vancouver, Canada 
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1

WESTMINSTER SAVINGS CREDIT UNION 
Consolidated statement of financial position 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 

December 31, 2016, with comparative information for 2015 

  Notes  2016 2015 

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 5 $ 129,809 $ 411,242 
Investments 6 332,371 166,336 
Loans 7 2,032,750 1,839,673 
Leases receivable 7 287,366 277,981 
Premises and equipment 8 9,109 8,556 
Intangible assets 9 2,001 1,603 
Current taxes receivable 21 939 2,780 
Deferred tax asset 22 7,911 6,042 
Other assets 10 7,251 2,809 

  $ 2,809,507 $ 2,717,022 

Liabilities and Members’ Equity   
Members’ deposits 12 $ 2,392,881 $ 2,316,798 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 13 14,547 11,802 
Securitization debt obligations 7(g), 7(h) 201,404 199,945 
Current taxes payable 21 253 - 
Deferred tax liability 22 15,577 13,050 
Retirement benefit obligations 19 3,986 1,560 
   2,628,648 2,543,155 

Members’ equity: 
Retained earnings 177,318 171,085 
Available-for-sale fair value reserve 3,541 2,782 
  180,859 173,867 

  $ 2,809,507 $ 2,717,022 

Commitments  20 
Contingencies  23 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

Approved on behalf of the board:   

  Director   Director  
Bill Brown, Chair Darlene Hyde, Vice-Chair 
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2

WESTMINSTER SAVINGS CREDIT UNION 
Consolidated statement of income  
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 

Year ended December 31, 2016, with comparative information for 2015 

  Notes 2016 2015 

Financial income: 
Interest income from loans, leases and investments  $ 93,076 $ 93,894 
Interest expense on deposits, borrowings and debts  (30,354) (34,381) 

Net interest income 14 62,722 59,513 

Impairment losses on loans and leases receivable 7(a) (1,532) (750) 
Net interest income after impairment  61,190 58,763 

Fee and commission income  11,110 12,106 
Fee and commission expense  (3,570) (3,074) 
Net fee and commission income 15 7,540 9,032 

Net gains on financial instruments 16 1,361 1,702 
Gain on sale of assets 8 1,752 - 
Impairment losses on other assets 10 (2,823) (745) 
Net interest and other income  69,020 68,752 

Operating expenses: 
Salary and employee benefits 17, 19 36,694 35,006 
Occupancy and equipment 20 8,408 8,032 
General and administrative 18 13,871 13,642 
   58,973 56,680 

Income before the undernoted  10,047 12,072 

Community investment  (238) (316) 

Income before income taxes  9,809 11,756 

Provision for income taxes: 
Current 21 1,160 310 
Deferred 21 1,167 2,175 
   2,327 2,485 

Net income  $ 7,482 $ 9,271 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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3

WESTMINSTER SAVINGS CREDIT UNION 
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 

Year ended December 31, 2016, with comparative information for 2015 

2016 2015 

Net income $ 7,482 $ 9,271 

Other comprehensive loss: 
Items that will be reclassified to net income: 

Net gains (losses) on available-for-sale financial assets,  
net of tax of $168 (2015 - ($1,095)) 759 (3,850) 

Items that will never be reclassified to net income: 
Net actuarial losses on defined benefit pension plans,  

net of tax of $511 (2015 - $127) (1,249) (231) 
  (490) (4,081) 

Comprehensive income  $ 6,992 $ 5,190 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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4

WESTMINSTER SAVINGS CREDIT UNION 
Consolidated statement of changes in members’ equity 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 

Year ended December 31, 2016, with comparative information for 2015 

  Available-for  Retained  
  -sale fair earnings Total 
  value reserve (deficit) equity 

Members’ equity, beginning of 2016 $ 2,782 $ 171,085 $ 173,867 

Net income - 7,482 7,482 

Fair value gains on available-for-sale 
financial assets - net of tax of $168 759 - 759 

Actuarial losses on defined benefit  
pension plans - net of tax of $511 - (1,249) (1,249) 

Other comprehensive income (loss) 759 (1,249) (490) 

Comprehensive income 759 6,233 6,992 

Members’ equity, end of 2016 $ 3,541 $ 177,318 $ 180,859 

  Available-for  Retained  
  -sale fair earnings Total 
  value reserve (deficit) equity 

Members’ equity, beginning of 2015 $ 6,632 $ 162,045 $ 168,677 

Net income - 9,271 9,271 

Fair value losses on available-for-sale 
financial assets - net of tax of $1,095 (3,850) - (3,850) 

Actuarial losses on defined benefit  
pension plans - net of tax of $127 - (231) (231) 

Other comprehensive income (loss) (3,850) (231) (4,081) 

Comprehensive income (3,850) 9,040 5,190 

Members’ equity, end of 2015 $ 2,782 $ 171,085 $ 173,867 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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WESTMINSTER SAVINGS CREDIT UNION 
Consolidated statement of cash flows 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 

Year ended December 31, 2016, with comparative information for 2015 

2016 2015 

Cash provided by (used in): 

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 7,482 $ 9,271 
Items not affecting cash: 

Depreciation of premises and equipment 1,508 1,665 
Amortization of intangible assets 750 874 
Impairment losses on loans and leases receivable 1,532 750 
Impairment losses on other assets 2,823 745 
Net interest income  (62,722) (59,513) 
Net gains on financial instruments (1,361) (1,702) 
(Gain) loss on disposal of premises and equipment (1,752) 57 
Provision for income taxes - current 1,160 310 
Provision for income taxes - deferred 1,167 2,175 
Defined benefit pension expense 3,509  3,163 

  (45,904) (42,205) 
Changes in non-cash operating working accounts: 

Loans (210,333) 3,452 
Leases receivable (11,226) (1,139) 
Other assets (7,265) (1,517) 
Members’ deposits  78,864 176,149 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 2,745 1,265 
Interest paid (33,105) (34,125) 
Interest received  92,297 94,280 
Income tax received (paid) 765 (218) 
Defined benefit pension plan contributions (2,842) (2,819) 
Change in other non-cash operating accounts 4  948 

Net cash flows (used in) provided by operating activities (136,000) 194,071 

Cash flows from financing activities:
Short-term borrowings - (764) 
Securitization debt increases 51,804 110,462 
Securitization debt retirement (50,375) (84,222) 
Net cash flows provided by financing activities 1,429 25,476 

Cash flows from investing activities:
Net (purchase) sale of liquidity deposits (143,000) 12,000 
Net purchase of investments (2,403) (26,496) 
Net investments in premises and equipment  (311) (1,084) 
Net investment in intangible assets (1,148) (58) 
Net cash flows used in investing activities (146,862) (15,638) 

(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (281,433) 203,909 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 411,242  207,333 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 129,809 $ 411,242 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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WESTMINSTER SAVINGS CREDIT UNION 
Notes to consolidated financial statements 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars, unless otherwise indicated) 

Year ended December 31, 2016 

6

1. General information: 

Westminster Savings Credit Union (Westminster Savings or the credit union) is a full-service 
financial institution providing retail and commercial financial services to the Greater Vancouver 
area. Through its subsidiaries, WS Leasing Ltd. and Mercado Capital Corporation, vehicle and 
equipment leasing is provided throughout western Canada, Ontario and the Maritimes. 
Westminster Savings has 13 full-service retail branches in the Greater Vancouver area. 

Westminster Savings, with a head office at Suite 1900 - 13450 102 Avenue, Surrey, 
British Columbia, is incorporated under the Credit Union Incorporation Act of British Columbia,
and its subsidiaries are under the Company Act of British Columbia. The credit union is regulated 
under the Financial Institutions Act of British Columbia and the Credit Union Incorporation Act of 
British Columbia, and is authorized to serve members within British Columbia. WS Leasing Ltd. 
and Mercado Capital Corporation, wholly owned subsidiaries of Westminster Savings, are 
permitted under the Credit Union Extra-provincial Business of Subsidiaries Regulations to the 
Credit Union Incorporation Act of British Columbia to conduct financial leasing business extra-
provincially. WS Leasing Ltd. and Mercado Capital Corporation operate throughout Western 
Canada, Ontario and the Maritimes.  

These consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016 were approved 
by the Westminster Savings Board of Directors on March 1, 2017. 

2. Basis of presentation 

(a) Statement of compliance: 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (IASB) and as required by the Financial Institutions Act.

(b) Basis of measurement: 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis, 
except for the following: 

─ available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets and financial liabilities held at 
fair value through profit or loss which are measured at fair value; and  

─ the retirement benefit obligation, which is measured at present value of the defined 
benefit obligation, plus unrecognized actuarial gains, less unrecognized past service 
cost and unrecognized actuarial losses. 

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the 
credit union’s functional currency. 
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WESTMINSTER SAVINGS CREDIT UNION 
Notes to consolidated financial statements 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars, unless otherwise indicated) 

Year ended December 31, 2016 

7

2. Basis of presentation (continued): 

(c) Use of judgments and estimates: 

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires 
management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of 
accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. 
Actual results may differ materially from those estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any 
future periods affected. 

Significant areas requiring the use of judgments and estimates relate to the determination of 
asset impairment including underlying loan security values, determination of the fair values of 
investments, asset derecognition, income taxes and retirement benefit obligations. 
Information on significant areas of uncertainty and critical judgments in applying accounting 
policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the consolidated 
financial statements are described in these notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

3. Significant accounting policies: 

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial 
statements are set out below. 

(a) Consolidation of subsidiaries: 

These consolidated financial statements include the assets, liabilities and the results of 
operations and cash flows of Westminster Savings and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, 
Westminster Savings Financial Planning Ltd., WS Leasing Ltd., Mercado Capital Corporation 
and its subsidiary Mercado Financing Ltd. The financial statements of the consolidated 
subsidiaries used to prepare these consolidated financial statements were prepared as of the 
parent company’s reporting date. 

Intercompany balances, and income and expenses arising from intercompany transactions, 
are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Intercompany losses are 
also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of impairment of the asset 
transferred. The integration of the subsidiaries into the consolidated financial statements is 
based on consistent accounting and valuation methods for similar transactions and other 
occurrences under similar circumstances. 

(b) Foreign currency translation: 

Transactions that are denominated, or that require settlement, in a foreign currency are 
translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the 
transactions. 
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Notes to consolidated financial statements 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars, unless otherwise indicated) 

Year ended December 31, 2016 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(b) Foreign currency translation (continued): 

Non-monetary items measured at historical cost denominated in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rate as at the date of initial recognition. Non-monetary items 
denominated in a foreign currency that are measured at fair value are translated using the 
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. 

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of foreign currency 
transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and 
liabilities are recognized immediately in the consolidated statement of income. Such gains 
and losses are presented net, and are included in fee and commission income. 

When a valuation gain or loss is recognized in net income, any related foreign exchange gain 
or loss is recognized in net income. When a valuation gain or loss is recognized in other 
comprehensive income, any related foreign exchange gain and loss component is recognized 
in net income. For non-monetary available-for-sale financial assets, foreign exchange gain 
and loss related to valuation gain or loss is presented in other comprehensive income, and is 
included in the available-for-sale fair value reserve in members’ equity. 

(c) Financial assets and liabilities: 

As a financial institution, a substantial portion of the assets and liabilities of the credit union 
are financial instruments. The credit union’s financial assets and liabilities are recorded on 
the consolidated statement of financial position on the transaction trade date in accordance 
with their assigned category. 

The classification of financial assets and liabilities are determined at initial recognition. 
Financial assets are classified as one of the following: fair value through profit or loss 
(FVTPL), loans and receivables, held to maturity, and available-for-sale (AFS). Financial 
liabilities are categorized as either FVTPL or as other financial liabilities. 

(d) Cash and cash equivalents: 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise balances of cash and demand deposits with banks, 
together with highly liquid investments with an initial term to maturity of less than 91 days, 
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to insignificant 
risk of changes in value. Cash and cash equivalents are classified as loans and receivables.  

(e) Investments: 

Investments consist of liquidity special deposits, fixed income investments, equity 
investments, preferred shares, shares of Central 1 Credit Union, and other investments. 
Interest and dividends are recorded on the consolidated statement of income as interest 
income from investments. Realized gains and losses on investments are recorded on the 
consolidated statement of income as net gains (losses) on financial instruments. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(e) Investments (continued): 

(i) Available-for-sale investments: 

Available-for-sale (AFS) assets are carried at fair value on the consolidated statement of 
financial position. Changes in the fair values of AFS assets are recorded in other 
comprehensive income and as an available-for-sale fair value reserve in members’ 
equity (net of applicable taxes), until the financial asset is disposed of or where there is 
objective evidence of impairment.  

(ii) Held-to-maturity investments: 

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments that an entity intends and is able to hold to maturity. Held-to-
maturity investments are measured at amortized cost. 

(f) Loans and leases receivable: 

(i) Recognition and measurement - loans: 

Loans to members are stated at unpaid principal and accrued interest, net of deferred 
transaction costs and fees on an amortized cost basis using the effective interest 
method. Loans are recorded net of a specific and collective provision for credit losses. 

(ii) Recognition and measurement - leases receivable: 

Vehicle and equipment leases receivable are classified as finance leases, as the lease 
term is for the major part of the economic life of the asset, the present value of the 
minimum lease payments exceeds the fair value of the leased asset, or transfer of 
ownership is reasonably certain. 

Vehicle and equipment leases receivable are recorded at the net present value of future 
minimum lease rentals, including the estimated residual value of the vehicles and 
equipment, net of allowances for credit losses. 

Vehicles and equipment securing leases receivable which have been repossessed and 
are held for sale, are reclassified to repossessed property and are measured at the 
lower of the carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell. 

(iii) Income recognition:

Interest income on loans and leases receivable is accounted for on an accrual basis 
using the effective interest method. Loan application and lease fees and mortgage 
broker fees are capitalized on initial recognition and amortized over the expected life of 
the instrument using the effective interest method. Interest on impaired loans and leases 
receivable is recorded at the effective rate of the written down value of the loan or lease 
receivable. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(g) Financial liabilities: 

Financial liabilities include borrowings, members’ deposits, members’ shares and 
securitization debt obligations. 

(i) Borrowings and members’ deposits are measured at amortized cost. Interest expense is 
accounted for on an accrual basis using the effective interest method. Deposit broker 
commissions are recognized immediately in net income. 

(ii) Membership in the credit union requires the acquisition of five member shares. Member 
shares, which have a par value of $1 each, entitle the holder to membership in the credit 
union and access to the products and services offered and to other member entitlements. 
Member shares do not earn interest or share in the earnings of the credit union, and are 
redeemed at par upon termination of membership. Member shares are therefore 
classified as financial liabilities, and are included in members’ deposits. 

(iii) Securitization debt obligations from consumer mortgage asset securitization transactions 
are recorded at amortized cost net of any premium or discounts, and amortized over the 
term of the loan using the effective interest method. Securitization debt obligations from 
leases receivable asset securitization transactions are recorded at the discounted 
amount of the remaining scheduled lease payments. Securitization transactions are 
explained further in note 3(j). 

(iv) In the ordinary course of business, the credit union periodically enters into interest rate 
swaps. Interest rate swap agreements are financial contracts whose value is derived from 
changes in interest rates. The credit union enters into these contracts to manage interest 
rate risk as part of the credit union’s asset and liability management program. 

Interest rate swaps are initially recognized at fair value on the date on which the contract 
is entered into, and are subsequently remeasured at their fair value, with changes in fair 
value reported on the consolidated statement of income as net gains (losses) on financial 
instruments. Fair values are calculated by using market quoted rates. All interest rate 
swaps are carried as assets within investments classified as fair value through profit and 
loss when the fair value is positive and as liabilities within accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities when fair value is negative. 

(h) Determination of fair value: 

The determination of fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities is based on quoted 
market prices or dealer price quotations wherever possible. This includes listed equity 
securities and quoted debt instruments. A financial instrument is regarded as quoted in an 
active market if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, 
broker, industry group, pricing service or regulatory agency, and those prices represent 
actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(h) Determination of fair value (continued): 

For all other financial instruments, fair value is determined using valuation techniques. Fair 
values are estimated using models to estimate the present value of expected future cash 
flows, or by using other valuation techniques. 

In some cases, some of the inputs to these models may not be market observable and are 
therefore estimated based on assumptions. The impact on net income from financial 
instrument valuations reflecting non-market observable inputs (level 3 valuations) is disclosed 
in note 4(l). 

The output of a model is always an estimate or approximation of a value that cannot be 
determined with certainty, and valuation techniques employed may not fully reflect all factors 
relevant to Westminster Savings’ financial instruments. 

In cases when the fair value of unlisted equity instruments cannot be determined reliably, the 
instruments are carried at cost less impairment. 

(i) Impairment of financial assets: 

(i) Loans and leases receivable: 

At each reporting date, Westminster Savings assesses whether there is objective 
evidence that a loan or lease receivable is impaired. The asset (or group of assets) is 
considered impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective 
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset (a loss event) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on 
the estimated future cash flows that can be reliably estimated. 

The criteria that Westminster Savings uses to determine that there is objective evidence 
of an impairment loss include: 

─ Notice or other indications of bankruptcy of the borrower. 

─ Default, payment delinquency and other deterioration in the relationship with the 
borrower. 

─ Decline in the fair market value of the security for the loan or lease receivable. 

Westminster Savings first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists for 
assets that are individually significant. 

For a loan or lease receivable with a fixed interest rate, the amount of the loss is 
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value 
of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) 
discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(i) Impairment of financial assets (continued): 

(i) Loans and leases receivable (continued): 

If the loan or lease receivable has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring 
any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate determined under the contract.  

As a practical expedient, Westminster Savings may measure impairment on the basis of 
an instrument’s fair value using third party published rates or other sources. 

The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a loan or lease 
receivable reflects the cash flows that may result from repossession or foreclosure, less 
costs for obtaining and selling the collateral, whether or not repossession or foreclosure 
is probable. 

If Westminster Savings determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an 
individually assessed loan or lease receivable, it includes the asset in a group of assets 
with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses the group for impairment. 
Loans or leases receivable that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an 
impairment loss is or continues to be recognized are not included in a collective 
assessment of impairment. 

For the purposes of a collective evaluation of impairment, loans and leases receivable 
are analyzed in five asset groups - consumer mortgages, commercial mortgages and 
loans, personal loans, vehicle leases receivable and equipment leases receivable. These 
groups are determined on the basis of similar credit risk characteristics. 

The methodology and assumptions used by Westminster Savings for estimating future 
cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and 
actual loss experience. 

For impaired loans and leases receivable, the carrying amount of the assets is reduced 
through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the estimated loss is 
recognized in the consolidated statement of income. When such an asset is uncollectible, 
it is written off against the related allowance. 

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the 
decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was 
recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the 
allowance account. The amount of the reversal is recognized in the consolidated 
statement of income. 

Impairment losses and subsequent reversals are classified in impairment losses on loans 
and leases receivable in the consolidated statement of income. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(i) Impairment of financial assets (continued): 

(i) Loans and leases receivable (continued): 

For collateralized financial assets deemed uncollectable and where collateral has been 
seized, the seized asset is classified in accordance with its nature, and any subsequent 
impairment to that asset is charged to the consolidated statement of income under 
impairment losses on other assets. 

(ii) Equity investments: 

Equity investments are considered impaired if the market value, established using quoted 
market prices, has declined by a specified percentage, or has declined for a period 
greater than 12 months, when compared to acquisition cost adjusted for any previous 
impairment. 

Impairment losses are recognized immediately in net income under net gains (losses) on 
financial instruments. For equity investments classified as AFS, impairment is not 
reversed through profit or loss.  

(iii) Non-equity investments: 

Fixed income investments are considered impaired based on objective evidence which 
considers factors including default and change in investment ratings from reputable 
investment rating firms. 

Impairment losses are recognized immediately in net income under net gains (losses) on 
financial instruments. Impairment losses are reversed through profit or loss if the 
decrease in the impairment can be related objectively to an event that occurred after the 
original impairment was recognized.  

(j) Securitization and derecognition of financial assets: 

In the normal course of its operations, the credit union securitizes financial assets, specifically 
consumer mortgages and leases receivable. Asset securitization programs provide for an 
immediate cash payment to the credit union from an investor, in exchange for the future 
payment stream from the securitized assets. 

After a securitization transaction, the credit union assesses the extent to which it has retained 
the risks and rewards of ownership of the transferred assets. If substantially all the risks and 
rewards have been retained, the assets remain on the consolidated statement of financial 
position. If substantially all the risks and rewards have been transferred, the assets are 
derecognized. If substantially all the risks and rewards have been neither retained nor 
transferred, the credit union assesses whether or not it has retained control of the assets. If it 
has not retained control, the assets are derecognized. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(j) Securitization and derecognition of financial assets (continued): 

When the assets remain on the consolidated statement of financial position, the credit union 
recognizes the consideration received as a financial liability, classified as a securitization debt 
obligation on the consolidated statement of financial position. This liability is retired over time 
as payments are made to the investor. The difference between the yield on the underlying 
securitized assets and the interest cost paid to the investor is recorded as income as it is 
earned. 

When the assets are derecognized, they are removed from the consolidated statement of 
financial position, the securitization is accounted for as a sale and the credit union records a 
gain or loss based on the present value of the net benefit derived from the transaction. 

As part of its participation in the Canada Mortgage Bond (CMB) Program, the credit union 
deposits mortgage principal and interest collections on securitized mortgages into a principal 
and interest re-investment account, the use of which is restricted to the purpose of making 
semi-annual interest payments on the credit union’s obligations in relation to Canada 
Mortgage Bonds and the repayment of the principal amounts of the bonds at maturity. 

(k) Syndication of financial assets: 

In the normal course of its operations, the credit union manages asset syndications, where 
other financial institutions participate as co-lenders with each taking a proportionate interest 
in the risks and benefits of the underlying asset. The credit union recognizes its proportionate 
share of the underlying asset and of the related income, classified consistently with other 
non-syndicated assets. 

(l) Interest income and interest expense: 

Interest income and expense for all interest-bearing financial instruments is recognized within 
interest income and interest expense in the consolidated statement of income using the 
effective interest method. 

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized amount of a financial 
asset or a financial liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the 
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument. When 
calculating the effective interest rate, Westminster Savings estimates cash flows considering 
all contractual terms of the financial instrument but does not consider future credit losses. 
The calculation includes all transaction costs, all fees paid or received between parties to the 
contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate, and all other premiums or 
discounts. Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been written down 
as a result of an impairment loss, interest income is recognized using the rate of interest used 
to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(m) Net fee and commission income: 

Fees and commissions received are generally recognized when the service has been 
provided, unless they are considered to be adjustments to the asset yield or deposit cost, in 
which case the effective interest method is used. 

(n) Repossessed property: 

In certain circumstances, property is repossessed on loans and leases receivable that are in 
default. Repossessed properties are revalued monthly and recorded at the lower of carrying 
amount and the fair value less costs to sell, and are reported within other assets. 

(o) Property leases: 

The credit union leases branch and administrative premises where a significant portion of the 
risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor. Accordingly, such leases are 
classified as operating leases. Lease payments are charged to the consolidated statement of 
income within occupancy and equipment expenses on a straight-line basis over the period of 
the lease. 

(p) Non-financial assets: 

(i) Premises and equipment: 

Premises and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation. Land is 
recognized at cost and is not depreciated. 

Premises and equipment are depreciated over their estimated useful lives using the 
following methods and rates: 

Asset Basis Rate 

Buildings Double declining balance  Over 60 years 
Computer equipment Straight-line  Over 3, 5, or 10 years 
Furniture and equipment Straight-line  Over 5 years 

 Double declining balance  Over 15 years 
Leasehold improvements Straight-line  Over the earlier of the useful 

  life and the lease term 

Premises and equipment are reviewed annually for impairment, or more frequently where 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(p) Non-financial assets (continued): 

(i) Premises and equipment (continued): 

For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped into cash-generating units 
reflecting Westminster Savings’ operating divisions, which is the lowest level for which 
there are separately identifiable cash-flows associated with the assets in question. The 
impairment test also can be performed on a single asset when the fair value less cost to 
sell or the value in use can be determined reliably. 

An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount 
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair 
value less costs to sell, and its value in use. Premises and equipment that suffered 
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date. 

(ii) Intangible assets: 

Intangible assets include computer software licenses, goodwill and other intangible 
assets.  

Intangible assets are recorded at cost. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized on 
a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of one to 14 years. Intangible assets 
with finite lives are assessed for impairment when impairment indicators are identified. 
When an impairment-triggering event has occurred, any excess of carrying value over fair 
value is charged to net income in the period in which impairment is determined. 

(q) Accounts payable and accrued liabilities: 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities include accounts payable, security deposits payable, 
and interest rate swap liabilities. Accounts payable and security deposits payable are 
measured at amortized cost.  

(r) Provisions: 

A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, Westminster Savings has a present 
legal or constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an 
outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are 
determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks 
specific to the liability. 

Contingent assets or liabilities are not recognized. However, a contingent liability is disclosed, 
unless the possibility of an outflow of economic resources is remote. Disclosure of contingent 
assets is made only when the likelihood of economic benefits is high. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(s) Income taxes: 

Total income tax expense consists of current and deferred taxes and are recognized in the 
consolidated statement of income except to the extent that they relate to items recognized 
directly in equity or in other comprehensive income.  

Current income tax is the tax expected to be payable on taxable income for the year, using 
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to 
current tax in respect of previous years.  

Deferred income tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities on the consolidated statement of financial position and the 
amounts attributed to the assets and liabilities for tax purposes. Deferred income tax is 
determined using tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at 
the reporting date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is 
realized or the deferred income tax liability is settled. 

Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable income 
will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilized. 

(t) Retirement benefit obligations: 

Retirement pensions are provided to the credit union’s employees through pension plans. 
The plans are funded through employer contributions to trustee-administered funds. The 
credit union does not provide post-retirement benefits other than pensions. 

The credit union has both defined benefit and defined contribution plans. A defined benefit 
plan is a pension plan that defines an amount of pension benefit that an employee will 
receive on retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors, such as age, years of 
service and compensation. A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the 
credit union pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The credit union has no legal or 
constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets 
to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior 
periods. 

(i) Plans accounted for as defined benefit plans: 

The pension expense and plan contributions for plans accounted for as defined benefit 
plans are determined by independent consulting actuaries. These plans are required to 
have an actuarial valuation performed once every three years. 

The cost of pension benefits earned by employees covered under defined benefit plans is 
determined using the projected unit credit actuarial cost method pro-rated on service and 
is charged to expense as services are rendered. The measurement date used for 
accounting purposes is December 31. For the purpose of calculating expected return, 
plan assets are valued at fair value. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(t) Retirement benefit obligations (continued): 

(i) Plans accounted for as defined benefit plans (continued): 

Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial 
assumptions are recognized in full in the period in which they occur, and are immediately 
charged to other comprehensive income without subsequent reversal for recognition in 
net income. 

The asset or liability recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position in 
respect of defined benefit pension plans is the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation at the date of the consolidated statement of financial position, less the fair 
value of plan assets, together with adjustments for unrecognized gains or losses and 
vested past service costs.  

The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the 
estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that 
have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related pension liability. 

Vested past-service costs are recognized immediately in net income within salary and 
employee benefits expenses.  

(ii) Plans accounted for as defined contribution plans: 

The credit union pays contributions to an administered group RRSP. The contributions 
are recognized as employee benefit expense when they are due. Prepaid contributions 
are recognized as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future 
payments is available. 

(u) Accounting standards issued but not yet effective: 

The following standards have been recently issued and the required future application of the 
standard may impact future consolidated financial statements of the credit union. The credit 
union does not expect to adopt any of these standards prior to the mandatory effective date. 

(i) IFRS 9: Financial Instruments: 

In July 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 9: Financial Instruments (IFRS 9), which replaces 
IAS 39: Financial Instruments Recognition and Measurement (IAS 39) and deals with the 
classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities. The requirements of this 
standard represent a significant change from the existing requirements in IAS 39. The 
changes will affect the classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities, 
the rules and requirements relating to hedge accounting as well as impairment of 
financial assets. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(u) Accounting standards issued but not yet effective (continued): 

(i) IFRS 9: Financial Instruments (continued):

The new standard requires classification of assets based on the credit union’s business 
model for managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of 
these assets. Financial assets are to be measured at fair value through profit or loss 
unless certain conditions are met which permit measurement at amortized cost or fair 
value through other comprehensive income. For financial liabilities there were no 
changes to classification and measurement except for the recognition of changes in the 
fair value attributable to changes in the entity’s own credit risk to be recognized in other 
comprehensive income rather than in profit or loss. Investments in non-trading equity 
instruments are required to be measured at fair value through profit or loss with an 
irrevocable election to recognize all changes in fair value from these investments through 
other comprehensive income. No amounts recognized in other comprehensive income 
would ever be reclassified to profit or loss at a later date. 

IFRS 9 also introduces a new single impairment model for financial assets. The new 
model is based on the measurement of the expected loss based on any change in credit 
risk over a 12 month period or life of the asset. The new model applies to loans and 
bonds that are measured at amortized cost or fair value through other comprehensive 
income. This is a significant change in the impairment model and the impact of it cannot 
be quantified at this stage. 

The mandatory effective date of IFRS 9 is for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2018 and must be applied retrospectively with some exemptions. Early 
adoption is permitted. The restatement of prior periods is not required and is only 
permitted if information is available without the use of hindsight. The credit union has not 
taken the transitional option in IFRS 9 of early adoption. Management is still assessing 
the impact the standard will have on the financial results of the credit union. 

(ii) IFRS 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers:

In May 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
(IFRS 15), which replaces the existing standards for revenue recognition. The new 
standard establishes a framework for the recognition and measurement of revenues 
generated from contracts with customers, except for items such as financial instruments, 
insurance contracts and leases. IFRS 15 also includes a cohesive set of disclosure 
requirements that will result in an entity providing users of financial statements with 
comprehensive information about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue 
and cash flows arising from the contracts with customers. The IASB has deferred the 
effective date of IFRS 15 to annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018 with 
early adoption permitted.  
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(u) Accounting standards issued but not yet effective (continued): 

(ii) IFRS 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers (continued): 

The standard may be adopted retrospectively, or as of the application date by adjusting 
retained earnings at that date and disclosing the effect of adoption on each line of profit 
or loss. Management is still assessing the impact, if any, the standard will have on the 
financial results of the credit union. 

(iii) IFRS 16: Leases:

IFRS 16: Leases (IFRS 16) was issued in January 2016 which replaces the existing 
leasing guidance in IAS 17: Leases. IFRS 16 introduces a single, on-balance sheet 
accounting model for lessees. A lessee recognizes a right-of-use asset representing its 
right to use the underlying asset and a lease liability representing its obligation to make 
lease payments. There are optional exemptions for short-term leases and leases of low 
value items. Lessor accounting remains similar to the current standards where lessors 
continue to classify leases as finance or operating leases.  

The mandatory effective date of IFRS 16 is for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2019. Early adoption is permitted for entities that apply IFRS 16 at or before 
the initial date of initial application of IFRS 16. Management has not yet reviewed the 
impact of IFRS 16 as at the date of publication of these consolidated financial 
statements. 

4. Financial risk management: 

(a) Credit risk management: 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss resulting from a borrower’s or lessee’s inability to repay 
or from a counterparty’s inability to complete or fulfill financial obligations to the credit union. 
Credit risk arises principally from lending, leasing and investing activities. There is also credit 
risk in unfunded loan and leases receivable commitments, investments in debt securities, 
interest rate swaps, and letters of credit. 

Management of credit risk is an integral part of the credit union’s activities. Credit risk is 
managed in accordance with lending and investment policies approved by the Board of 
Directors. These policies identify authorized loans, leases receivable and investment types, 
limit asset concentrations, stipulate credit evaluation standards and delegate approval 
authorities. Management policies have also been implemented including evaluating the 
members’ ability to repay the loan when it is originally granted and subsequently renewed 
and regularly monitoring member information such as delinquent and over-limit amounts. 
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4. Financial risk management (continued): 

(a) Credit risk management (continued): 

Management carefully monitors and manages the credit union’s exposure to credit risk by a 
combination of methods. The overall management of credit risk is centralized in the 
Investment and Loan Committee which reports to the Board of Directors. The Investment and 
Loan Committee is responsible for approving and monitoring the credit union’s tolerance for 
credit exposures which it does through review and approval of the credit union’s lending 
policies and through setting limits on credit exposures to individual members and across 
sectors.

The credit union employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk. The most 
traditional of these is the taking of security for funds advanced. The credit union maintains 
investment and lending policies which impose guidelines on the acceptability of specific 
classes of collateral or other credit risk mitigation. The principal collateral types for loans and 
leases receivable are: 

─ Mortgages over residential and commercial properties. 

─ Charges over vehicles, other property, or over business assets such as equipment, 
inventory accounts receivable and other assets. 

─ Charges over financial instruments such as deposits or other securities. 

(b) Credit risk measurement: 

At December 31, 2016, the maximum credit risk exposure of the credit union approximates 
the carrying value of all on-balance sheet credit exposures, along with undrawn commitments 
which amounted to $502,534 (2015 - $428,328) as at year end. 

Credit risk exposure as at  Undrawn Off-balance Total 
December 31, 2016 Outstanding commitments sheet exposure 

Cash equivalents $ 71,891 $ - $ - $ 71,891 
Liquidity deposits 195,391 - - 195,391 
Fixed income investments 19,175 - - 19,175 
Investments held at amortized cost 57,659 - - 57,659 
Consumer mortgages 1,301,089 55,133 - 1,356,222 
Consumer loans 201,820 277,029 - 478,849 
Commercial mortgages 248,826 18,122 - 266,948 
Commercial loans and line of credit 280,992 152,250 - 433,242 
Accrued interest on loans 2,352 - - 2,352 
Allowance for losses on loans (4,168) - - (4,168) 
Vehicle leases receivable 150,913 - - 150,913 
Equipment leases receivable 136,686 - - 136,686 
Allowance for losses on leases (2,674) - - (2,674) 
Obligation under letters of credit - - 10,727 10,727 

Total exposure $ 2,659,952 $ 502,534 $ 10,727 $ 3,173,213 
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4. Financial risk management (continued): 

(b) Credit risk measurement (continued): 

Credit risk exposure as at  Undrawn Off-balance Total 
December 31, 2015 Outstanding commitments sheet exposure 

Cash equivalents $ 350,106 $ - $ - $ 350,106 
Liquidity deposits 52,468 - - 52,468 
Fixed income investments 15,550 - - 15,550 
Investments held at amortized cost 40,708 - - 40,708 
Consumer mortgages 1,157,515 43,103 - 1,200,618 
Consumer loans 196,415 228,390 - 424,805 
Commercial mortgages 256,615 1,197 - 257,812 
Commercial loans and line of credit 231,104 155,638 - 386,742 
Accrued interest on loans 2,213 - - 2,213 
Allowance for losses on loans (4,717) - - (4,717) 
Vehicle leases receivable 171,567 - - 171,567 
Equipment leases receivable 107,178 - - 107,178 
Allowance for losses on leases (2,038) - - (2,038) 
Obligation under letters of credit - - 9,401 9,401 

Total exposure $ 2,574,684 $ 428,328 $ 9,401 $ 3,012,413 

(c) Asset quality: 

Management monitors the amount of exposure to credit risk in each risk class to limit the 
exposure to high-risk assets and ensures that an appropriate risk-return profile is maintained 
in keeping with credit union policy. 

(i) Securities and other investments: 

Credit risk arises from investments held by the credit union to meet regulatory and 
internal liquidity requirements and for general business purposes. This aspect of credit 
risk is principally managed by Treasury which reports to the Asset-Liability Committee. 
These investments are limited to approved, reputable counterparties that are monitored 
on an ongoing basis. There are also limits on concentrations of individual asset types to 
ensure that the portfolio is diversified. The credit union monitors the stability of 
counterparties on an ongoing basis. 
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4. Financial risk management (continued): 

(c) Asset quality (continued): 

(i) Securities and other investments (continued): 

The investment ratings on fixed income investments (note 6) are as follows: 

December 31, 2016 

Senior long-term debt rating: 
DBRS: AA    $ 15,833 
DBRS: A  3,342 

    $ 19,175 

December 31, 2015 

Senior long-term debt rating: 
DBRS: AA; Moody’s: AA3   $ 15,378 
Accrued interest  172 

    $ 15,550 

Interest rate swaps are restricted to counterparties that are approved, reputable and are 
monitored on an ongoing basis. 

Other investments reflect holdings in central credit unions and related cooperative 
organizations. 

(ii) Collateralized financial assets: 

As a financial institution, the credit union takes security as collateral for loans and leases 
receivable. The credit union maintains guidelines on the acceptability of specific types of 
collateral. Management monitors the amount of exposure to limit any concentrations of 
risk and to ensure that the overall loans and leases receivable portfolios are diversified in 
keeping with credit union policy. 

For undrawn commitments to make collateralized loans or leases receivable, the 
commitment to advance funds is contingent on the pledging of acceptable collateral, in 
keeping with the credit union’s policies. 

Where significant impairment indicators are identified, the credit union will take additional 
measures to manage the risk of default, which may include seeking additional collateral. 

The credit quality of the commercial loans and leases receivable which are neither past 
due nor impaired is assessed in accordance with the credit union’s risk rating guidelines. 
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4. Financial risk management (continued): 

(c) Asset quality (continued): 

(ii) Collateralized financial assets (continued): 

The credit union’s credit risk exposure for collateralized assets outstanding is secured by 
assets with the following security profile: 

     Vehicles 
Collateral as at Insured First Other and Other   
December 31, 2016 mortgages mortgages mortgages transport assets Unsecured Total 

Consumer mortgages $ 408,032 $ 881,789 $ 10,936 $ - $ - $ 332 $ 1,301,089 
Consumer loans - 105,483 43,796 3,155 22,808 26,578 201,820 
Commercial mortgages - 248,826 - - - - 248,826 
Commercial loans and 

line of credit - 270,420 82 75 9,200 1,215 280,992 
Vehicle leases 

receivable - - - 150,913 - - 150,913 
Equipment leases  

receivable - - - - 136,686 - 136,686 

  $ 408,032 $ 1,506,518 $ 54,814 $ 154,143 $ 168,694 $ 28,125 $ 2,320,326 

     Vehicles 
Collateral as at Insured First Other and Other   
December 31, 2015 mortgages mortgages mortgages transport assets Unsecured Total 

Consumer mortgages $ 404,562 $ 743,439 $ 9,174 $ - $ - $ 340 $ 1,157,515 
Consumer loans - 96,281 48,590 4,430 17,129 29,985 196,415 
Commercial mortgages - 256,615 - - - - 256,615 
Commercial loans and 

line of credit - 222,219 867 5 6,849 1,164 231,104 
Vehicle leases 

receivable - - - 171,567 - - 171,567 
Equipment leases  

receivable - - - - 107,178 - 107,178 

  $ 404,562 $ 1,318,554 $ 58,631 $ 176,002 $ 131,156 $ 31,489 $ 2,120,394 

(d) Interest rate risk: 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. Interest rate risk arises from the impact 
that changes in interest rates may have on income and economic value due to the mismatch 
between positions that are subject to interest rate adjustments in a specified period. Interest 
rate risk results primarily from differences in the maturity dates or repricing dates of interest-
bearing assets and liabilities. The credit union monitors interest rate risk inherent in the 
portfolio. It employs techniques, including maturity and repricing schedules and portfolio 
modeling to measure interest rate risk.  
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4. Financial risk management (continued): 

(d) Interest rate risk (continued): 

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of the credit union’s financial 
instruments will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk 
is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
prevailing market interest rates. Other types of interest rate risk may involve basis risk, which 
is the risk of loss arising from changes in the relationship of interest rates which have similar 
but not identical characteristics (for example, the difference between prime lending rates and 
savings deposit rates). 

Net interest income may increase or decrease in response to changes in market interest 
rates. Accordingly, the credit union sets limits on the level of interest rate risk exposure. 
Interest rate risk is managed by Treasury and monitored by the Asset-Liability Committee. 

Income simulation is used to assess the credit union’s interest rate exposure. Interest rate 
shock analysis involves measuring the impact of a more significant change of 100 basis 
points or greater in interest rates. Income simulation and interest rate shock analysis are 
calculated monthly and reported to the Asset-Liability Committee quarterly. As at 
December 31, 2016, the credit union estimates that an immediate and sustained 100 basis 
point increase in interest rates would increase net interest income by $2,042 (2015 - $2,595) 
over the next 12 months while an immediate and sustained 100 basis point decrease in 
interest rates would decrease net interest income by $2,970 (2015 - $4,241) over the next 
12 months. 

(e) Interest rate swaps: 

Interest rate exchange agreements (swaps) are transactions in which two parties exchange 
fixed-rate interest payments for floating-rate interest payments for a predetermined period, 
calculated using agreed fixed and floating rates applied to an agreed notional amount. 
Notional amounts are not exchanged, and do not represent credit or market risk exposure. 

Interest rate swaps are used to modify and reduce the credit union’s interest rate risk 
exposure. 

Interest rate swaps are measured at fair value derived using present value and other 
valuation techniques and may not be indicative of the net realizable values. 
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4. Financial risk management (continued): 

(f) Interest rate risk measurement: 

The following table summarizes carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities to arrive at 
the credit union’s interest rate sensitivity based on the earlier of contractual repricing or 
maturity dates (adjusted for prepayment assumptions): 
 Effective Within 3 to 12 1 year to Over Non-interest  
2016 rate 3 months months 3 years 3 years sensitive Total 

Assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 0.56% $ 129,806 $ - $ - $ - $ 3 $ 129,809 
Investments 0.90% 15,994 59,323 143,753 63,329 49,972 332,371 
Loans 3.28% 998,046 234,779 428,997 370,908 20 2,032,750 
Leases receivable 6.44% 30,825 83,182 140,211 33,380 (232) 287,366 

  3.20% $ 1,174,671 $ 377,284 $ 712,961 $ 467,617 $ 49,763 $ 2,782,296 

Liabilities 

Members’ deposits 1.06% $ 1,265,130 $ 836,359 $ 251,424 $ 29,234 $ 10,734 $ 2,392,881 
Securitization debt obligations 1.70% 28,770 56,218 100,714 15,563 139 201,404 
Other - - - - - 14,547 14,547 

  1.10% $ 1,293,900 $ 892,577 $ 352,138 $ 44,797 $ 25,420 $ 2,608,832 

Interest rate sensitivity gap 2.10% $ (119,229) $ (515,293) $ 360,823   $ 422,820 $ 24,343 $ 173,464 

 Effective Within 3 to 12 1 year to Over Non-interest  
2015 rate 3 months months 3 years 3 years sensitive Total 

Assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 0.76% $ 411,200 $ - $ - $ - $ 42 $ 411,242 
Investments 0.87% 18,714 43,133 45,025 10,345 49,119 166,336 
Loans 3.41% 839,369 314,252 417,487 270,543 (1,978) 1,839,673 
Leases receivable 6.39% 44,935 120,407 101,039 12,364 (764) 277,981 

  3.15% $ 1,314,218 $ 477,792 $ 563,551 $ 293,252 $ 46,419 $ 2,695,232 

Liabilities 

Members’ deposits 1.21% $ 1,478,735 $ 754,296 $ 59,269 $ 17,919 $ 6,579 $ 2,316,798 
Securitization debt obligations 2.13% 26,099 90,666 124,968 (41,957) 169 199,945 
Other - - - - - 11,802 11,802 

  1.28% $ 1,504,834 $ 844,962 $ 184,237 $ (24,038) $ 18,550 $ 2,528,545 

Interest rate exchange  
agreements  
(notional amounts)

Receive floating 0.84% $ 30,000 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 30,000 
Pay fixed 1.50% - (30,000) - - - (30,000) 

Interest rate sensitivity gap 1.87% $ (160,616) $ (397,170) $ 379,314 $ 317,290 $ 27,869 $ 166,687 
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4. Financial risk management (continued): 

(g) Liquidity risk: 

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated 
with financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. Liquidity 
risk may result in being unable to meet financial obligations in a timely manner and at 
reasonable prices.  

To mitigate this risk, the credit union is required by regulation to maintain sufficient levels of 
liquid assets. Required liquidity levels are expressed as a percentage of members’ deposits, 
borrowings and the portion of securitization debt obligation relating to consumer mortgages. 
The minimum liquidity levels required by regulation are 8% in 2016 (2015 - 8%). At 
December 31, 2016 and 2015, the credit union’s liquidity exceeded this required level. 

Liquidity is managed in accordance with a policy approved by the Board of Directors. It is the 
credit union’s policy to maintain prudent levels of liquidity in relation to its deposits and other 
debt obligations, in order to retain customer confidence in the credit union and to enable the 
credit union to meet all financial obligations. This is achieved through management of loan 
portfolio growth in relation to deposit growth, through asset securitizations, and through 
asset-liability maturity management techniques. The credit union also maintains committed 
borrowing facilities that it can access to meet liquidity needs, as explained in note 11. 

Management reviews forecasts of the credit union’s liquidity requirements on a monthly basis 
as part of its liquidity management program; ensuring funding is available to meet cash 
requirements. 

(h) Liquidity risk measurement: 

The table below presents a maturity analysis of financial liabilities which shows the cash 
flows contractually payable by the credit union: 

 Up to 1 to 3 3 to 12 1 year to Over 
2016 1 month months months 3 years 3 years Total 

Members’ deposits $ 1,037,716 $ 210,801 $ 855,849 $ 256,979 $ 55,208 $ 2,416,553 
Securitization debt obligations 1,080 2,292 55,387 62,024 87,036 207,819 

Total liabilities  
(contractual maturity dates) $ 1,038,796 $  213,093 $ 911,236 $  319,003 $ 142,244 $ 2,624,372 

 Up to 1 to 3 3 to 12 1 year to Over 
2015 1 month months months 3 years 3 years Total 

Members’ deposits $ 967,696 $ 231,640 $ 817,152 $ 282,371 $ 48,302 $ 2,347,161 
Securitization debt obligations 3,422 7,288 36,078 142,685 17,043 206,516 
Interest rate swaps - (34) (93) - - (127) 

Total liabilities  
(contractual maturity dates) $ 971,118 $ 238,894 $ 853,137 $ 425,056 $ 65,345 $ 2,553,550 
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4. Financial risk management (continued): 

(i) Equity price risk: 

The credit union’s investment portfolio includes equity investments. Fluctuations in the value 
of equity securities impact the recognition of both realized and unrealized gains and losses 
on securities held. The credit union has policies in place to limit and monitor its exposure to 
individual issuers and classes of securities. 

A 10% change in equity prices would have a $4,377 (2015 - $4,290) impact on 
comprehensive income. The analysis is based on the assumption that all equity and equity-
related investments increase/decrease while all other variables are held constant. 

(j) Foreign exchange risk: 

The credit union is subject to currency risk which arises on financial instruments that are 
denominated in a foreign currency. Foreign exchange risk is managed in accordance with a 
policy approved by the Board of Directors. The credit union’s policy is to manage currency 
risk to preclude any material impact on annual earnings.  

The amount of foreign exchange gains for 2016 is $515 (2015 - $795). These amounts are 
included in the consolidated statement of income under fee and commission income. 

The potential impact of changes to foreign exchange rates on the net income of the credit 
union is insignificant. 

(k) Fair value of financial instruments: 

The table below sets out the fair values of financial instruments using the valuation methods 
and assumptions referred in note 4(l) and analyses them by the level in the fair value 
hierarchy. The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are: 

Level 1 - Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either 
directly or indirectly; and 

Level 3 -  Inputs that are not based on observable market data. 
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4. Financial risk management (continued): 

(k) Fair value of financial instruments (continued): 

     Total Total 
    fair carrying 
2016 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 value value 

Assets: 
Financial instruments carried at 

fair value: 
Liquidity deposits $ - $ 195,391 $ - $ 195,391 $ 195,391 
Fixed income investments - 3,342 15,833 19,175 19,175 
Equity investments 37,944 - 5,830 43,774 43,774 
Preferred shares 5,482 - - 5,482 5,482 
Other investments - 209 - 209 209 

Financial instruments carried at 
amortized cost: 

Cash and cash equivalents 57,918 71,891 - 129,809 129,809 
Investments held to maturity - 57,894 - 57,894 57,659 
Consumer mortgages - 1,309,338 - 1,309,338 1,301,089 
Consumer loans - 201,851 - 201,851 201,820 
Commercial mortgages - 252,143 - 252,143 248,826 
Commercial loans and line of credit - 280,959 - 280,959 280,992 
Vehicle leases receivable - 151,610 - 151,610 150,913 
Equipment leases receivable - 137,317 - 137,317 136,686 

Financial instruments carried at cost:  
Central 1 Credit Union shares - 10,681 - 10,681 10,681 

Total financial assets $ 101,344 $ 2,672,626 $ 21,663 $ 2,795,633 $ 2,782,506 

Liabilities: 
Financial instruments carried at 

amortized cost: 
Members’ deposits $ - $ 2,376,161 $ - $ 2,376,161 $ 2,392,881 
Securitization debt obligations - 200,806 - 200,806 201,404 

Total financial liabilities $ - $ 2,576,967 $ - $ 2,576,967 $ 2,594,285 

In 2016, there were no transfers between the levels of fair value hierarchy (2015 - nil). 
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4. Financial risk management (continued): 

(k) Fair value of financial instruments (continued): 

     Total Total 
    fair carrying 
2015 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 value value 

Assets: 
Financial instruments

carried at fair value: 
Liquidity deposits $ - $ 52,468 $ - $ 52,468 $ 52,468 
Fixed income investments - - 15,550 15,550 15,550 
Preferred shares 4,952 - - 4,952 4,952 
Equity investments 38,653 - 4,247 42,900 42,900 
Other investments - 209 - 209 209 

Financial instruments
carried at amortized cost: 

Cash and cash equivalents  61,136  350,106  -  411,242  411,242 
Investments held to maturity - 41,157 - 41,157 40,708 
Consumer mortgages - 1,168,862 - 1,168,862 1,157,515 
Consumer loans - 196,528 - 196,528 196,415 
Commercial mortgages - 262,860 - 262,860 256,615 
Commercial loans 
and line of credit - 231,129 - 231,129 231,104 
Vehicle leases receivable - 173,095 - 173,095 171,567 
Equipment leases receivable - 108,133 - 108,133 107,178 

Financial instruments carried at cost: 
Central 1 Credit Union shares - 9,549 - 9,549 9,549 

Total financial assets $ 104,741 $ 2,594,096 $ 19,797 $ 2,718,634 $ 2,697,972 

Liabilities: 
Financial instruments

carried at fair value: 
Interest rate swaps $ - $  212 $ - $ 212 $ 212 

Financial instruments
carried at amortized cost: 
Members’ deposits - 2,322,507 - 2,322,507 2,316,798 
Securitization debt obligations - 200,709 - 200,709 199,945 

Total financial liabilities $ - $ 2,523,428 $ - $ 2,523,428 $ 2,516,955 

(l) Methods and assumptions: 

Investments (excluding investments held at cost or amortized cost) are reported on the 
consolidated statement of financial position at fair value. These values are based on quoted 
market prices if available and other valuation techniques, including discounting cash flows.  

Investment in shares of Central 1 Credit Union, which is required by governing legislation and 
as a condition of membership in Central 1 Credit Union, is classified as available-for-sale. 
Typically, the Central 1 shares are not traded in an active market and accordingly the market 
values are not readily available. In addition the variability in the range for fair value estimates 
based on the valuation models is significant. Accordingly, the Central 1 shares are reported 
at their original cost.  

Westminster Savings Management Discussion and Analysis 2016  |  60



WESTMINSTER SAVINGS CREDIT UNION 
Notes to consolidated financial statements 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars, unless otherwise indicated) 

Year ended December 31, 2016 

31 

4. Financial risk management (continued): 

(l) Methods and assumptions (continued): 

The fair values of loans, leases receivable and members’ deposits with fixed rates and fixed 
maturity dates are determined by discounting cash flows using the Government of Canada 
yield curve.  

Other inputs to the valuation model for fixed rate loans and leases receivable include 
scheduled loan amortization rates and estimated prepayment rates.  

The following table reconciles the credit union’s Level 3 fair value measurements from 
December 31, 2015 to December 31, 2016: 

  2016 2015 
  Fair value Fair value 
  measurements measurements 
  using Level 3 using Level 3 
  inputs inputs 
  investments investments 

Level 3, beginning of year $ 19,797 $ 22,441 
New investments  6,000 5,001 
Sold investments (4,293) (5,512) 
Return of capital (246) (316) 
Change in fair market value  578 (1,769) 
Other (173) (48) 

Level 3, end of year $ 21,663 $ 19,797 

Level 3 includes investments where fair value is determined based on third party proprietary 
software, indices and methodologies. Level 3 fair values are comparable to internally derived 
valuations. Unobservable input is primarily the spread over the risk-free interest rate. An 
increase in the spread would have a negative effect on fair value. This is mitigated as the 
investments move closer to maturity. One investment type has volatility as an unobservable 
input. An increase in volatility would have a positive effect on fair value. 

Since the fixed income Level 3 investments are principal protected, the risk of a decrease in 
principal only exists if these investments are not held to maturity. Prior to maturity, fair value 
of these investments change with the level interest rates, spread over risk-free rate, volatility 
and underlying index.  
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4. Financial risk management (continued): 

(l) Methods and assumptions (continued): 

The sensitivity of fair value to a 10% increase/decrease change in these inputs is shown in 
the following table: 

  10% 10% 
Input increase decrease 

Reference Index Level $ 1,117 $ (578) 
Risk-free rate (22) 53 
Spread over risk-free rate (38) 68 
Volatility 88 41 

(m) Capital management: 

The Financial Institutions Act regulations prescribe the minimum required capital that must be 
held by the credit union. The level of capital required is based on the risk-weighted value of 
the assets held by the credit union. The prescribed minimum ratio of capital to risk-weighted 
assets is 8%, along with a requirement that at least 35% of its capital base consist of retained 
earnings.  

Capital is managed in accordance with a policy approved by the Board of Directors. It is the 
credit union’s policy to maintain a prudent relationship between the capital base and the 
underlying risks of the business, in order to support business growth and expansion of 
services to members. Credit union policy requires that a capital ratio of 10.5% be maintained. 

Management regards a strong capital base as an integral part of the credit union’s business 
strategy. The credit union’s objectives for capital management include maintaining 
substantially all credit union capital in the form of retained earnings. The credit union 
maintains a capital plan to ensure that long-term capital requirements are met. All of the 
elements of capital are monitored throughout the year, and modifications of capital 
management strategies are made as appropriate. 

At December 31, 2016 and 2015, the credit union’s capital ratios were in compliance with the 
regulatory requirements and with the credit union’s internal policy requirements.  
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5. Cash and cash equivalents: 

  2016 2015 

Cash $ 57,918 $ 61,136 
Liquidity deposits with original maturities  

of less than 91 days 68,774 344,737 
Fixed income investments with original maturities  

of less than 91 days 3,117 5,369 

  $ 129,809 $ 411,242 

Cash includes cash reserve account balances of $4,875 (2015 - $5,745) as described in 
notes 7(g) (ii) and 7(h). 

6. Investments: 

  2016 2015 

Available-for-sale: 
Liquidity deposits with original maturities  

of greater than 90 days $ 195,391 $ 52,468 
Fixed income investments with original maturities  

of greater than 90 days 19,175 15,550 
Equity investments 43,774 42,900 
Preferred shares 5,482 4,952 
Central 1 Credit Union shares 10,681 9,549 
Other investments 209 209 

Held-to-maturity: 
Principal and interest reinvestment accounts 56,805 39,101 
Sub note - junior note 854 1,607 

  $ 332,371 $ 166,336 
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7. Loans and leases receivable: 

  2016 2015 

Consumer mortgages $ 1,301,089 $ 1,157,515 
Consumer loans 201,820 196,415 
Total consumer loans 1,502,909 1,353,930 

Commercial mortgages 248,826 256,615 
Commercial loans and lines of credit 280,992 231,104 
Total commercial loans 529,818 487,719 

Accrued interest receivable 2,352 2,213 
Deferred fee revenue (1,704) (1,449) 
Deferred fee cost 3,543 1,977 
Allowance for impairment losses on loans (4,168) (4,717) 

Total loans $  2,032,750 $ 1,839,673 

Total loans include securitized loan balances of $129,017 (2015 - $118,833) as described in 
note 7 (g): 

  2016 2015 

Mortgage backed securities loan balances $ 87,780 $ 77,596 
Asset-backed commercial paper loan balances 41,237 41,237 

Total securitized loan balances $ 129,017 $ 118,833 

Total loans include restricted loan balances of $172,238 (2015 - $225,452) pledged as collateral 
for borrowings as described in note 11. 

  2016 2015 

Vehicle leases receivable $ 150,913 $ 171,567 
Equipment leases receivable 136,686 107,178 
Deferred fee revenue (1,455) (1,715) 
Deferred fee cost 3,896 2,989 
Allowance for impairment losses on leases receivable (2,674) (2,038) 

Total leases receivable $ 287,366 $ 277,981 

Total leases receivable include securitized leases receivable balances of $19,116 
(2015 - $41,990) as described in note 7(h). 

Westminster Savings Management Discussion and Analysis 2016  |  64



WESTMINSTER SAVINGS CREDIT UNION 
Notes to consolidated financial statements 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars, unless otherwise indicated) 

Year ended December 31, 2016 

35 

7. Loans and leases receivable (continued): 

(a) Allowance for losses on loans and leases receivable: 

  Beginning Change in 2016 2015 
  of year provision Total Total 

Consumer mortgages $ 559 $ (324) $ 235 $ 559 
Consumer loans 717 (152) 565 717 
Commercial loans 3,441 (73) 3,368 3,441 

Allowance for losses 
on loans 4,717 (549) 4,168 4,717 

Allowance for losses 
on leases receivable 2,038 636 2,674 2,038 

  6,755 87 6,842 6,755 

Specific allowance 347 (347) - 347 
Collective allowance 6,408 434 6,842 6,408 

End of year $ 6,755 $ 87 $ 6,842 $ 6,755 

The provision for losses on loans is $4,168 (2015 - $4,717) and the provision for losses on 
leases receivable is $2,674 (2015 - $2,038). 

The impairment losses on loans and leases receivable in the consolidated statement of 
income are $1,532 (2015 - $750). This includes direct write-offs on loans of $240 
(2015 - $195) and direct write-offs on leases receivable of $1,205 (2015 - $380). Also 
included is the reduction in provision on loans of $549 (2015 - increase of $393) and increase 
in provision on leases receivable of $636 (2015 - reduction of $218). 

Recoveries from previous loan write-offs of $145 (2015 - $102) and recoveries from previous 
leases receivable write-offs of $584 (2015 - $390) are included in fee and commission 
income.  

(b) Leases receivable: 

   At December 31, 2016   At December 31, 2015  
   Unearned Present  Unearned Present 
  Future finance value of Future finance value of 
  minimum income on minimum minimum income on minimum 
  lease finance lease lease finance lease 
  payments leases payments payments leases payments 

Not later than 1 year $ 105,881 $ (9,685) $ 96,196 $ 103,982 $ (8,272) $ 95,710 
Later than 1 year and  

not later than 5 years 213,148 (22,945) 190,203 204,914 (22,324) 182,590 
Later than 5 years 1,222 (22) 1,200 453 (8) 445 

 $ 320,251 $ (32,652) $ 287,599 $ 309,349 $ (30,604) $ 278,745 
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7. Loans and leases receivable (continued): 

(c) Individually impaired loans and leases receivable: 

A loan is considered impaired when the security is deficient, there is a reasonable 
expectation of loss and a specific allowance for credit losses has been established. There 
were no individually impaired loans in 2016 for consumer mortgages (2015 - nil), consumer 
loans (2015 - nil), commercial loans and mortgages (2015 - $4,455) and lease receivables 
(2015 - nil). 

(d) Security on individually impaired loans and leases receivable: 

  2016 2015 

Individually impaired loans and leases receivable - gross $ - $ 4,802 
Estimated value of underlying security, net of recovery costs - (4,455) 

  $ - $ 347 

The fair value of the collateral held by the credit union as security for individually impaired 
loans and leases receivable was nil (2015 - $4,455). The credit union has estimated the fair 
value of collateral held on loans on an assessment of the security appraisal undertaken at the 
original funding and management’s estimation of the market value of the security. Collateral 
held on vehicle leases receivable is revalued monthly based on published market estimates, 
and specific valuations obtained for equipment leases.  

(e) Past due loans and leases receivable: 

Loans and leases receivable are considered past due when a member or counterparty has 
not made a payment within 30 days of the contractual due date, and are fully secured and 
collection efforts are reasonably expected to result in repayment. 

 Current  Past due  
December 31, 2016 0-30 days 30-90 days 90+ days Total 

Consumer mortgages $  1,296,442 $ 3,536 $ 1,111 $ 1,301,089 
Consumer loans 201,097 623 100 201,820 
Commercial loans 526,448 34 3,336 529,818 
Leases receivable 280,170 6,744 685 287,599 

 $ 2,304,157 $ 10,937 $ 5,232 $ 2,320,326 
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7. Loans and leases receivable (continued): 

(e) Past due loans and leases receivable (continued): 

 Current  Past due  
December 31, 2015 0-30 days 30-90 days 90+ days Total 

Consumer mortgages $ 1,153,051 $ 4,283 $ 181 $ 1,157,515 
Consumer loans 195,811 534 70 196,415 
Commercial loans 482,911 6 4,802 487,719 
Leases receivable 274,747 3,504 494 278,745 

 $ 2,106,520 $ 8,327 $ 5,547 $ 2,120,394 

(f) Repossessed property: 

At December 31, 2016, the credit union held reposessed vehicles and equipment of $1,766 
(2015 - $1,238). These assets are valued at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less 
costs to sell, and are reported as other assets (note 10) in the consolidated statement of 
financial position. 

(g) Loans securitized: 

Periodically, the credit union securitizes loans, mainly in order to obtain diverse, low cost 
funding and to manage interest rate risk. Securitization involves selling loans to special 
purpose vehicles or trusts (securitization vehicles), which buy the loans and then issue 
interest bearing securities to investors at specified interest rates. 

Securitization agreements are assessed to determine whether the transfers of financial 
assets should result in all or a portion of the transferred loans being derecognized from the 
consolidated statement of financial position. The derecognition requirements include an 
assessment of whether the credit union transfers both its contractual right to receive cash 
flows from the financial assets, or retains the contractual rights to receive the cash flows, but 
assumes a contractual obligation to pay the cash flows to another party without material 
delay or reinvestment, and also transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership, 
including credit risk, prepayment risk and interest rate risk.  

The credit union has no securitized mortgage receivables qualifying for derecognition. 

Contracts with the securitization vehicles provide for the payment to the credit union over 
time of the excess of the sum of interest and fees collected from customers, in connection 
with the loans that were sold, over the yield paid to investors in the securitization vehicle. The 
exposure to variability of future interest income and expense has been incorporated into the 
credit union’s interest rate sensitivity calculations in note 4(d). 
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7. Loans and leases receivable (continued): 

(g) Loans securitized (continued): 

The credit union has no right or obligation to repurchase any securitized loan. 

(i) Mortgage-backed securities and the CMB Program: 

The credit union is an approved issuer of mortgage-backed securities, including 
mortgage-backed securities issued for inclusion in the CMB Program. 

Direct participation in the CMB Program involves the creation of mortgage-backed 
securities which are then transferred to Canada Housing Trust, a special purpose vehicle, 
which in turn, issues securities to third party investors. Canada Housing Trust uses the 
proceeds of bond issuances to fund the purchase of mortgage-backed securities from the 
credit union and other approved issuers of mortgage-backed securities. These transfers 
of financial assets by the credit union did not qualify for derecognition principally because 
the credit union retains significant exposure to prepayment and other risks associated 
with the transferred mortgages.  

As such, these transactions are accounted for as financing activities and result in the 
recognition of a securitization liability (securitization debt obligation) that is subsequently 
measured at amortized cost. 

Securitization liabilities recognized when mortgage-backed securities are transferred into 
the CMB Program are non-amortizing and are re-paid in full on the final maturity date of 
the Canada Mortgage Bonds. Interest payments are made semi-annually. As a result, 
collections of principal on the underlying mortgages are retained and reinvested to 
ensure there are sufficient funds available to service the interest coupon on the liability 
and the eventual settlement of the liability on maturity of the Canada Mortgage Bonds, 
which is typically at the end of five years. 

As Central 1 is an approved swap counterparty to the CMB Program, the credit union 
enters into a swap agreement with Central 1 which mirrors an equivalent swap 
agreement which Central 1 enters into with Canada Housing Trust to exchange interest 
cash flows related to the securitization activity. The credit union receives the mortgage 
interest on the transferred mortgage receivables and pays the funding cost of the 
program, which is principally derived from the coupon rate of the Canada Mortgage 
Bonds. 

As at December 31, 2016, the balance of mortgage receivables underlying the mortgage-
backed securities that have been sold were $87,780 (2015 - $77,596). As at 
December 31, 2016, $38,701 (2015 - $46,497) of additional mortgage receivables have 
been issued as mortgage-backed securities, but remained unsold to the CMB program. 
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7. Loans and leases receivable (continued): 

(g) Loans securitized (continued): 

(i) Mortgage-backed securities and the CMB Program (continued): 

The table below is a continuity schedule showing the change in the carrying amounts of 
mortgage receivables that are underlying issued mortgage-backed securities that have 
been sold to the CMB program. 

     Prepayments 
   New  and 
Year Opening securitizations Amortization liquidations Maturities Closing 

2016 $ 77,596 $ 51,804 $ (2,861) $ (24,128) $ (14,631) $ 87,780 
2015  99,902  3,977  (2,737)  (16,339)  (7,207)  77,596 

As at December 31, 2016, the balance of the securitization debt obligation related to 
these securitization transactions was $142,435 (2015 - $116,866). 

The table below sets out the carrying amounts of the mortgage receivables securitized 
and the reinvestment accounts along with the associated securitized debt obligations for 
securitizations that did not qualify for derecognition. 

  2016   2015  
  Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities 

Mortgage receivables/ 
securitized debt obligations $ 87,780 $ 142,353 $ 77,596 $ 116,791 

Principal and interest   
reinvestment accounts 56,805 - 39,100 - 

Accrued interest - 82 - 75 

  $ 144,585 $ 142,435 $ 116,696 $ 116,866 

(ii) Asset-Backed Commercial Paper (ABCP) program: 

The credit union participates in an ABCP program to securitize uninsured consumer 
mortgages receivables. 

Under the program, uninsured consumer mortgage receivables are securitized with a 
trust vehicle and, in turn, the trust funds these mortgage assets by issuing ABCP to 
investors. The ABCP is secured by cash flows received on the underlying consumer 
mortgage receivables.  
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7. Loans and leases receivable (continued): 

(g) Loans securitized (continued): 

(ii) Asset-Backed Commercial Paper (ABCP) program (continued): 

The transfer of financial assets under this program did not qualify for derecognition 
principally because the credit union retains significant exposure to risks associated with 
the transferred assets. As such, transactions under this program are accounted for as 
financing activities and result in the recognition of a securitization debt obligation that is 
subsequently measured at amortized cost. The credit union receives the mortgage 
interest on the transferred uninsured consumer mortgage receivables and pays the 
funding cost of the program. 

Central 1 Credit Union plays a key role in this securitization program by providing a 
performance guarantee. The performance guarantor is responsible for ensuring the 
performance of the credit union. This means guaranteeing that all payments of interest 
and principal are made when due. 

A pool of uninsured consumer mortgage receivables was established in 2015. The 
program has a co-ownership structure, in that a portion of the pool of uninsured 
consumer mortgage receivables were securitized with the trust and the credit union 
retained ownership of the remaining interest in the pool, 

The balance securitized with the trust was $41,237, which represented a 25.3% interest 
in the co-ownership pool. The remaining interest was retained by the credit union. 

Since the securitization was completed, the credit union has elected to apply all principal 
collected on the underlying consumer mortgage receivables against its interest in the co-
ownership pool. As a result, at December 31, 2016, the trust’s interest in the co-
ownership pool, in dollar terms, has remained constant at $41,237. The credit union 
continues to own the remainder of the co-ownership pool. 

As at December 31, 2016, the balance of the uninsured consumer mortgage receivables 
included in the co-ownership pool was $87,134 (2015 - $136,103), of which $41,237 was 
securitized with the trust. 

Proceeds on this securitization transaction were $40,000, which reflects 3% over 
collateralization. As at December 31, 2016, the balance of the securitization debt 
obligation related to this securitization transaction was $40,034 (2015 - $40,032). This 
balance includes accrued interest of $34 (2015 - $32). Interest is accrued at a floating 
rate. The principal portion of this balance did not change because the trust continued to 
own the same amount of uninsured consumer mortgage receivables in the co-ownership 
pool. 
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7. Loans and leases receivable (continued): 

(g) Loans securitized (continued): 

(ii) Asset-Backed Commercial Paper (ABCP) program (continued): 

If the pool amortizes down to $41,237, the trust will hold a 100% interest in the co-
ownership pool. At this point, further amortization would be applied fully against the 
trust’s interest in the pool. The credit union could elect to contribute additional uninsured 
consumer mortgage receivables into the co-ownership pool. If this were to occur, the 
credit union could elect to apply all principal collected on the underlying uninsured 
consumer mortgage receivables against its interest in the co-ownership pool. 

Under this program the credit union provides limited recourse in two ways. Firstly, a cash 
reserve account is maintained as a reserve against losses. Losses pertaining to the 
trust’s interest in uninsured consumer mortgage receivables are applied against the cash 
reserve account. The balance of the cash reserve account is returned to the credit union 
as the trust’s interest in the mortgage receivables amortizes. The balance of the cash 
reserve account is included in cash and cash equivalents (note 5). As at December 31, 
2016, the cash reserve account balance was $600 (2015 - $600). Secondly, the trust’s 
interest in the mortgage receivables was over collateralized by 3%. The trust has no 
recourse to the credit union’s interest in the co-ownership pool or to any other assets of 
the credit union. 

To ensure cash flows received on the uninsured consumer mortgage receivables are 
sufficient to pay ABCP investors, an interest rate swap is integral to the structure. The 
interest rate swap locks-in interest costs on the trust’s interest in fixed rate mortgage 
receivables in the co-ownership pool. The credit union is not a counter-party to this 
interest rate swap. 

(h) Leases receivable securitized: 

The credit union securitizes leases receivable to obtain alternate sources of funding and to 
manage interest rate risk. The credit union had two leases receivable securitization programs 
in place during 2016. On November 30, 2016, the credit union elected to terminate one 
leases receivable securitization program.  

Securitized leases receivable do not qualify for derecognition principally because the credit 
union retains significant exposure to credit and prepayment risk associated with the 
transferred leases receivable. As such, these transactions are accounted for as financing 
activities and result in the recognition of a securitization liability (securitization debt 
obligations) at an amount approximately equivalent to the securitization proceeds.

Securitization debt obligations are subsequently measured at the discounted amount of the 
remaining scheduled lease payments. 

During 2016, the credit union did not securitize any leases receivable (2015 - $21,556). 
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7. Loans and leases receivable (continued): 

(h) Leases receivable securitized (continued): 

As at December 31, 2016, leases receivable balances of $19,116 (2015 - $41,990) had been 
securitized. 

On leases receivable securitizations, the credit union funds a cash reserve account. Credit 
losses on leases receivable are applied against the cash reserve account. The balance of the 
cash reserve account is returned to the credit union as the securitized assets amortize.  

The cash reserve account is included in cash and cash equivalents (note 5). As at 
December 31, 2016, cash reserve account balances were $4,275 (2015 - $5,145). 

Securitization debt obligations recognized on lease securitization transactions are limited 
recourse liabilities. The special purpose vehicles or trusts have recourse against the cash 
flows on the securitized leases receivable.  

As at December 31, 2016, the securitization debt obligations relating to leases receivable 
securitizations were $18,935 (2015 - $43,047). 

The table below is a continuity schedule showing the change in the carrying amounts of the 
securitization debt obligations relating to leases receivable securitization transactions that did 
not qualify for derecognition. 

  New 
Year Opening securitizations Amortization Buybacks Other Closing 

2016 $ 43,047 $ - $ (20,498) $ (871) $ (2,743) $ 18,935 
2015  50,866  20,909  (25,166)  (3,521)  (41)  43,047 

For 2016, the continuity schedule reflects the credit union’s termination of one leases 
receivable securitization program. At termination, the balance of the securitized debt 
obligation for this program was $2,703. 
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8. Premises and equipment: 

   Computer 
   equipment Furniture 
  Land and and ATM and Leasehold 
2016 buildings equipment equipment improvements Total 

Balance, January 1, 2016  $ 3,039 $ 931 $ 2,897 $ 1,689 $ 8,556 
Additions 30 452 2,758 577 3,817 
Disposals (1,482) (67) (207) - (1,756) 
Depreciation (63) (361) (731) (353) (1,508) 

Balance, December 31, 2016 $ 1,524  $ 955 $ 4,717 $ 1,913 $ 9,109 

At December 31, 2016: 
Cost $ 2,998 $ 3,814 $ 12,345 $ 12,099 $ 31,256 
Accumulated depreciation (1,474) (2,859) (7,628) (10,186) (22,147) 

Net book value $ 1,524 $ 955 $ 4,717 $ 1,913 $ 9,109 

   Computer 
   equipment Furniture 
  Land and and ATM and Leasehold 
2015 buildings equipment equipment improvements Total 

Balance, January 1, 2015  $ 2,974 $ 854 $ 3,392 $ 1,974 $ 9,194 
Additions 151 560 121 252 1,084 
Disposals - - (57) - (57) 
Depreciation (86) (483) (559) (537) (1,665) 

Balance, December 31, 2015 $ 3,039 $ 931 $ 2,897 $ 1,689 $ 8,556 

At December 31, 2015 
Cost $ 6,660 $ 6,539 $ 12,393 $ 12,642 $ 38,234 
Accumulated depreciation (3,621) (5,608) (9,496) (10,953) (29,678) 

Net book value $ 3,039 $ 931 $ 2,897 $ 1,689 $ 8,556 

During the year, the credit union disposed of a property for proceeds of $3,500. The gain of 
$1,752 on disposal of the property is recorded as gain on sale of assets in the consolidated 
statement of income. Amortization of premises and equipment is recorded on the consolidated 
statement of income under occupancy and equipment expenses. 
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9. Intangible assets: 

   Computer Other Total 
   software intangible intangible 
2016  licences assets  

Balance, January 1, 2016   $ 755 $ 848 $ 1,603 
Additions  1,148 - 1,148 
Amortization  (593) (157) (750) 

Balance, December 31, 2016 $ 1,310 $ 691 $ 2,001 

At December 31, 2016: 
Cost $ 4,113 $ 2,192 $ 6,305 
Accumulated amortization and impairment  (2,803) (1,501) (4,304) 

Net book value $ 1,310 $ 691  $ 2,001 

   Computer Other Total 
   software intangible intangible 
2015  licences assets assets 

Balance, January 1, 2015   $ 1,414 $ 1,005 $ 2,419 
Additions  58 - 58 
Amortization  (717) (157) (874) 

Balance, December 31, 2015 $ 755 $ 848 $ 1,603 

At December 31, 2015: 
Cost $ 2,966 $ 7,006 $ 9,972 
Accumulated amortization and impairment  (2,211) (6,158) (8,369) 

Net book value $ 755 $ 848 $ 1,603 

Amortization of intangible assets is recorded in the consolidated statement of income under 
general and administrative expenses. 
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10. Other assets: 

  2016 2015 

Repossessed property (note 7(f)) $ 1,766 $ 1,238 
Accounts receivable 4,284 1,056 
Prepaid expenses 1,201 515 

  $ 7,251 $ 2,809 

Impairment losses of $2,823 (2015 - $745) were recorded on repossessed property. Recoveries 
from repossessed property of $584 (2015 - $390) are included in fee and commission income. 

11. Borrowings: 

The credit union has three approved credit facilities totaling $248.0 million (2015 - $290.0 million). 
The first, with Central 1 Credit Union, is secured by a general charge over the assets of the credit 
union. For credit facilities with other financial institutions, security in the amount of $172.2 million 
(2015 - $225.5 million) is provided by a first charge against specific Canada Mortgage and 
Housing Corporation™ (CMHC) insured consumer mortgages. All borrowings are repayable 
within 12 months. There were no borrowings at year end 2016 or 2015.  

12. Members’ deposits: 

  2016 2015 

Demand deposits $ 898,795 $ 829,123 
Term deposits 1,223,594 1,210,037 
Registered savings plans 258,753 263,119 
Member shares 280 278 
Accrued interest payable 11,459 14,241 

  $ 2,392,881 $ 2,316,798 

The number of member shares issued at December 31, 2016 was 279,635 (2015 - 277,975). 
Member shares have a par value of $1 and entitle the holder to membership in the credit union, 
access to the products and services offered and to other member entitlements. Member shares 
do not earn interest or share in the earnings of the credit union, and are redeemed at par upon 
termination of membership. 
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13. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities: 

  2016 2015 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 14,547 $ 11,590 
Interest rate swaps  -  212 

  $ 14,547 $ 11,802 

14. Net interest income: 

  2016 2015 

Interest income: 
Interest and dividends from investments: 

Available-for-sale $ 4,225 $ 3,901 
Held-to-maturity 706 650 

Interest from loans 69,468 69,720 
Interest from leases receivable 18,677 19,623 
  93,076 93,894 

Interest expense: 
Interest expense on borrowings 107 98 
Interest expense on members’ deposits 25,752 29,595 
Interest expense on securitization debt obligations 4,495 4,688 
  30,354 34,381 

  $ 62,722 $ 59,513 

15. Net fee and commission income: 

  2016 2015 

Fee and commission income: 
Loan and leases receivable fees $ 1,535 $ 1,321 
Insurance, mortgage and visa commissions  1,493  1,876 
Member service fees and commissions 2,804 2,943 
Wealth management fees  4,381  4,754 
Foreign exchange and other  897  1,212 
  11,110 12,106 

Fee and commission expense: 
Loan and leases receivable expenses 940 837 
Member service expenses 1,548 1,244 
Loans and leases receivable securitization fees 192 186 
Other fees 890 807 
  3,570 3,074 

Net fee and commission income $ 7,540 $ 9,032 
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16. Net gains on financial instruments: 

  2016 2015 

Net realized gains on available-for-sale financial assets $ 2,107 $ 2,834 
Impairment losses on available-for-sale financial assets (890) (1,036) 
Net gains (losses) on financial instruments at fair value  

through profit and loss 144  (96) 

  $ 1,361 $ 1,702 

17. Salary and employee benefits: 

  2016 2015 

Salaries and commissions expense (note 24(b)) $ 28,863 $ 27,830 
Employee benefits expense (note 19(b)) 6,601 6,408 
Other 1,230 768 

  $ 36,694 $ 35,006 

18. General and administrative expenses: 

  2016 2015 

Data processing and electronic banking $ 3,633 $ 2,394 
Insurance, audit and dues 3,517 3,230 
Marketing and sales expenses 1,756 2,395 
Depreciation of premises and equipment 1,508 1,665 
Intangible asset amortization 750 873 
Consulting and legal 600 858 
Stationary, supplies and other 2,107 2,227 

  $ 13,871 $ 13,642 
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19. Retirement benefit obligations: 

Retirement pensions are provided to the credit union’s employees through various pension plans, 
which are funded through employer contributions. The largest plan is the Westminster Savings 
Employee Pension Plan (WSEPP), a defined benefit plan serving the employees of Westminster 
Savings. The credit union provides a money purchase plan group RSP for the employees of 
Mercado Capital Corporation. 

The credit union also participates in a multi-employer defined contribution pension plan. This plan 
serves a small number of active and retired employees and is closed to new entrants. The credit 
union also participates in a Supplemental Employee Retirement Plan (SERP) that serves a small 
number of employees and is open to new participants.  

For WSEPP and the SERP, the pension expense and plan contributions are determined in 
consultation with independent actuaries. The plans are required to have an actuarial valuation 
performed once every three years. The latest actuarial valuation was performed as at 
December 31, 2014 and the obligation and assets as at December 31, 2016 have been estimated 
by the actuary by extrapolating the results from the actuarial valuation of December 31, 2014 
using the assumptions noted. The next valuation will be completed in 2018, with an effective date 
of December 31, 2017. 

(a) Funded status of defined benefit pension plans: 

The funded status of the WSEPP and SERP plans is the net asset or liability that reflects the 
difference between the fair value of plan assets and the present value of pension benefit 
obligations. 

  2016 2015 

Fair value of plan assets: 
Fair value of plan assets, beginning of year $ 55,767 $ 51,136 
Interest income on plan assets 2,246 2,022 
Return on plan assets 686 1,797 
Employer contributions 2,842 2,818 
Benefit payments (2,906) (2,006) 
  58,635 55,767 

Present value of defined benefit obligations: 
Benefit obligation, beginning of year 57,327  51,994 
Current service cost 3,445 3,129 
Interest cost 2,310 2,056 
Benefit payments (2,906) (2,006) 
Actuarial loss 2,445  2,154 
  62,621 57,327 

Deficiency of plan assets over obligations $ (3,986) $ (1,560) 
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19. Retirement benefit obligations (continued): 

(b) Pension benefit expense: 

The amounts recognized in the consolidated statement of income for the WSEPP and SERP 
defined pension benefit expense included in salary and employee benefits expense were as 
follows: 

  2016 2015 

Current service cost $ 3,445 $ 3,129 
Net interest on net defined benefit liability 64 34 

Pension benefit expense $ 3,509 $ 3,163 

(c) Investment returns: 

The expected return on the WSEPP and SERP defined benefit pension plan assets is 
determined by considering the discount rate that is used to measure the defined benefit 
obligation. Expected yields on fixed interest investments are based on gross redemption 
yields as at the date of the consolidated statement of financial position. Expected returns on 
equity and property investments reflect long-term real rates of return experienced in the 
respective markets. 

The actual return on plan assets was $2,932 (2015 - $3,819). 

(d) Investment composition and diversification: 

Pension fund assets for the WSEPP and SERP defined benefit pension plans are held in a 
diversified and balanced fund in which the target asset allocation is mandated by the Pension 
Plan Investment Policy. The objective of this investment policy is to seek acceptable returns 
with low risk over the expected investment time horizon.  

Actual asset allocation of the fair value of plan assets is as follows: 

  2016 2015 

Equity securities 50.7% 59.3% 
Debt securities 45.8% 27.2% 
Other 3.5% 13.5% 

  100.0% 100.0% 
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19. Retirement benefit obligations (continued): 

(e) Actuarial assumptions: 

Assumptions regarding future mortality experience are determined based on actuarial advice 
in accordance with published statistics and experience in Canada. Mortality assumptions are 
based on the Canadian Pension Mortality (CPM) Private Sector Mortality tables. These tables 
translate into an average life expectancy in years of a pensioner retiring at age 65. 

The significant assumptions used in the measurement of the present value of the WSEPP 
and SERP defined pension benefit obligations are as follows: 

  2016 2015 

Discount rates 3.9% 4.1% 
Salary scale 3.0% 3.0% 
Inflation 2.0% 2.0% 

At December 31, 2016, the weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligations was 
20.2 years (2015 - 19.7 years). 

(f) Five-year summary: 

 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 

Present value of defined  
benefit obligation $ 62,621 $ 57,327 $ 51,994 $ 40,271 $ 42,718 

Fair value of plan assets 58,635 55,767 51,136 43,091 33,713 
Deficit (surplus) in the plan 3,986 1,560 858 (2,820) 9,005 
Experience losses (gains)  

on plan liabilities 29 3,469 (74) 27 3,025 
Return on plan assets (686) (1,797) (2,794) (4,626) (1,506) 

(g) Sensitivity to changes in the discount rates: 

The sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to changes in the discount rates is shown 
below: 

  2016 2015 

Discount rate: 
Impact of a 1% increase $ (10,707) $ (9,448) 
Impact of a 1% decrease  13,839 12,416 
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19. Retirement benefit obligations (continued):

(g) Sensitivity to changes in the discount rates (continued):
The results shown in the sensitivity table were determined by recalculating the defined benefit 
obligation but only changing the assumption for which the sensitivity is required and then 
calculating the difference between the recalculated obligation and the actual obligation. There 
have been no changes from the previous period to the methods or assumptions used in 
preparing the sensitivity analysis.

(h) Expected contributions:

Expected contributions to the defined benefit plans for the year ending December 31, 2017 

are $2,604.

20. Commitments:
The credit union is committed to payments for premises and for information systems under 
operating leases extending to 2031. The lease arrangements may include escalation clauses to 
reflect fair market rates. At December 31, the future minimum lease payments are as follows: 

Premises Information 
leases systems 

No later than 1 year $ 4,419 $ 3,084 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 15,067 3,802 
Later than 5 years 18,670 125 

$ 38,156 $ 7,011 

Premises lease expense of $5,710 (2015 - $5,070) is recorded on the consolidated statement of 
income under occupancy and equipment expenses. 

21. Provision for income taxes:

2016 2015 

Current tax: 
Corporate tax on income for the year $ 1,160 $ 310 

Deferred tax: 
Origination and reversal of temporary difference $ 639 $ 1,946 
Change in estimated tax rate applied 517 224 
Other 11 5

$ 1,167 $ 2,175 
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21. Provision for income taxes (continued): 

The combined federal and provincial basic corporate income tax rate is 26.0% (2015 - 26.0%) of 
the income for the year. The tax on the credit union’s income before tax differs from the 
theoretical amount that would arise using the basic corporation tax rate of the credit union as 
follows: 

   2016   2015  
   % of pre-  % of pre- 
  Amount tax income Amount tax income 

Combined federal and provincial 
statutory income tax rates $ 2,550 26.0% $ 3,057 26.0 % 

Credit union rate reduction (356) (3.6)% (547) (4.6)% 
Non-deductible or taxable items (272) (2.8)% (39) (0.3)% 
Effect of change in estimated 

tax rate on deferred tax provision 383 3.9% 14 0.1% 
Other 22 0.2%  -  

Provision for income taxes $ 2,327 23.7% $ 2,485  21.2 % 

The effective tax rate for 2016, based on income before tax, was 23.7% (2015 - 21.2%).  

In addition to the corporate tax expense charged to the consolidated statement of income, tax of 
$343 (2015 - $1,222) has been credited in other comprehensive income in the year, as follows: 

   Before tax  Total  After tax 
2016  amount  tax  amount 

Movements in available-for-sale financial assets: 
Gains due to changes in fair value $ 901 $ (163) $ 738 
Losses transferred to consolidated 

statement of income  26  (5)  21 

Actuarial losses on defined benefit pension plans  (1,760)  511  (1,249) 

Other comprehensive loss $ (833) $ 343 $ (490) 

   Before tax  Total  After tax 
2015  amount  tax  amount 

Movements in available-for-sale financial assets: 
Losses due to changes in fair value $ (5,624) $ 1,270 $ (4,354) 
Gains transferred to consolidated 

statement of income  679  (175)  504 

Actuarial losses on defined benefit pension plans  (358)  127  (231) 

Other comprehensive loss  $ (5,303) $ 1,222 $ (4,081) 
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22. Deferred tax: 

Deferred taxes are calculated on temporary differences under the liability method using tax rates 
expected to apply when the liability is settled or the asset is realized. 

(a) Deferred income tax assets are attributable to the following items: 

  2016 2015 

Pension $ 2,524 $ 2,012 
Allowance for losses on loans and leases receivable 1,663 1,458 
Deferred revenues and intangible assets 1,638 1,687 
Premises and equipment - 865 
Investments 21 20 
Loss carryforward 2,065 - 

  $ 7,911 $ 6,042 

(b) Deferred income tax liabilities are attributable to the following items: 

  2016 2015 

Pension $ 1,080 $ 1,176 
Leasing 12,430 10,630 
Deferred expenses 1,952 1,119 
Premises and equipment 115 125 

  $ 15,577 $ 13,050 

23. Contingencies: 

In the normal course of business, various claims and legal proceedings arise against the credit 
union. While the outcome of future outstanding actions cannot be predicted with certainty, it is the 
opinion of management that their resolution will not have a material effect on the credit union’s 
financial position.  

24. Related party disclosures: 

Related parties of the credit union include wholly owned subsidiaries, post-employment benefit 
plans, as well as directors and key management personnel and their close family members. 

All subsidiaries are wholly owned, and include Westminster Savings Financial Planning Ltd., 
WS Leasing Ltd., Mercado Capital Corporation and its subsidiary Mercado Financing Ltd. These 
financial statements consolidate the accounts of these subsidiaries, and accordingly all inter-
company transactions and balances are eliminated upon consolidation. 
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24. Related party disclosures (continued): 

Related parties include Westminster Savings Employee Pension Plan, as outlined in note 19, and 
Westminster Savings Foundation. The credit union paid actuarial and administration fees on 
behalf of the pension plan in the amount of nil (2015 - $296).  

At December 31, 2016 the credit union has a receivable of $100 (2015 - $26) from the 
Westminster Savings Foundation. The credit union maintains deposits on behalf of the 
Westminster Savings Foundation of $5,818 (2015 - $7,579). The credit union paid interest on 
these deposits of $169 (2015 - $193). 

(a) Directors and key management personnel: 

Directors and key management personnel include all members of the Westminster Savings 
Board of Directors, and key management who have authority for planning, directing or 
controlling the activities of the organization. This group also includes those who are close 
family members of the above. A number of banking transactions are entered into with 
directors and key management personnel in the normal course of business. These include 
loans, deposits and foreign currency transactions. The volumes of such transactions, 
outstanding balances at the year-end, and relating expense and income for the year are as 
follows: 

   Loans and advances   Deposits  
2016 2015 2016 2015 

Outstanding at January 1 $ 2,151 $ 2,155 $ 1,478 $ 2,145 

Net transactions during the year (451) (4) 715 (668) 

Outstanding at December 31 $ 1,700 $ 2,151 $ 2,193 $ 1,477 

Interest income earned on loans/ 
paid on deposits $ 63 $ 68 $ 26 $ 23 

No allowances have been recognized in respect of loans given to related parties (2015 - nil). 
The loans and advances held by directors and other key management personnel (and close 
family members) at December 31, 2016 of $1,700 (2015 - $2,151), are repayable monthly 
over a range of 1 to 7 years and have interest rates ranging from 2.3% to 5.7%. The loans 
advanced to the directors during the year are secured by real estate or chattels. No 
impairment losses have been recorded against balances during the year with key 
management personnel and no specific allowance has been made for impairment losses on 
balances with key management personnel at year end.  

The above deposits are unsecured, carry variable interest rates and are repayable on 
demand. 
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24. Related party disclosures (continued): 

(b) Key management compensation: 

  2016 2015 

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits $ 4,171 $ 4,183 
Post-employment and termination benefits 955 1,796 

Total key management compensation $ 5,126 $ 5,979 

Post-employment benefit and termination benefits represent retirement pension obligation 
and termination benefits amounts paid or payable, pursuant to agreements to members of 
key management who left the organization during the period. 
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